

Turun yliopisto University of Turku

DETERMINANTS OF BONE STRENGTH AND PREDICTORS OF HIP FRACTURE AMONG FINNISH ADULTS

Results from the Health 2000 Survey and the Mini-Finland Health Survey

Maarit Kauppi

University of Turku

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Medicine Internal Medicine Doctoral Programme of Clinical Investigation, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

National Institute for Health and Welfare

Department of Health, Turku, Finland

Supervised by

Research professor Antti Jula, MD, PhD National Institute for Health and Welfare Department of Health Turku, Finland Adjunct professor Olli Impivaara, MD, PhD National Institute for Health and Welfare Department of Health Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Ari Heinonen, PhD University of Jyväskylä Department of Health Sciences Jyväskylä, Finland Adjunct professor Antti Malmivaara, MD, PhD National Institute for Health and Welfare Department of Health and Social Care Systems Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Kaisu Pitkälä, MD, PhD University of Helsinki Department of General Practice and Primary Health Care Helsinki, Finland

The originality of this thesis has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-6025-5 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-6026-2 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy - Turku, Finland 2015

To my precious family

ABSTRACT

Maarit Kauppi

Determinants of bone strength and predictors of hip fracture among Finnish adults. Results from the Health 2000 Survey and the Mini-Finland Health Survey

University of Turku, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Medicine, Internal Medicine; Doctoral Programme of Clinical Investigation, University of Turku; National Institute for Health and Welfare, Turku, Finland. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Medica – Odontologica, Turku, Finland 2015.

The objective of this thesis was to identify the determinants of bone strength and predictors of hip fracture in representative samples of Finnish adults. A secondary objective was to construct a simple multifactorial model for hip fracture prediction over a 10-year follow-up period.

The study was based on the Health 2000 Survey conducted during 2000 to 2001 (men and women aged 30 years or over, n=6 035) and the Mini-Finland Health Survey conducted during 1978 to 1980 (women aged 45 years or over, n=2 039). Study subjects participated in health interviews and comprehensive health examination. In the Health 2000 Survey, bone strength was assessed by means of calcaneal quantitative ultrasound (QUS). The follow-up information about hip fractures was drawn from the National Hospital Discharge Register.

In this study, age, weight, height, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (S-25(OH)D), physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption as well as menopause and eventual HRT in women were found to be associated with calcaneal broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA) and speed of sound (SOS). Parity was associated with a decreased risk of hip fracture in postmenopausal women. Age, height, weight or waist circumference, quantitative ultrasound index (QUI), S-25(OH)D and fall-related factors, such as maximal walking speed, Parkinson's disease, and the number of prescribed CNS active medication were significant independent predictors of hip fracture. At the population level, the incremental value of QUS appeared to be minor in hip fracture prediction when the fall-related risk factors were taken into account.

A simple multifactorial model for hip fracture prediction presented in this study was based on readily available factors (age, gender, height, waist circumference, and fallrelated factors). Prospective studies are needed to test this model in patient-based study populations.

Keywords: calcaneal quantitative ultrasound, QUI, S-25(OH)D, fall risk, maximal walking speed, hip fracture, risk assessment, elderly

TIIVISTELMÄ

Maarit Kauppi

Luun lujuutta määrittävät ja lonkkamurtumia ennustavat tekijät suomalaisilla aikuisilla. Tuloksia Terveys 2000- ja Mini-Suomi -terveystutkimuksista

Turun yliopisto, lääketieteellinen tiedekunta, kliininen laitos, sisätautioppi; Turun yliopiston kliininen tohtoriohjelma; Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos, Turku, Finland. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Medica – Odontologica, Turku, Finland 2015.

Tämän väitöskirjan tavoitteena oli tunnistaa luun lujuutta määrittäviä ja lonkkamurtumien ilmaantuvuutta ennustavia tekijöitä suomalaisia aikuisia edustavissa aineistoissa. Lisäksi tavoitteena oli muodostaa yksinkertainen malli, jolla voitaisiin ennustaa lonkkamurtumia yli 10 vuoden seurantajakson aikana.

Väitöstutkimus koostui kahdesta suomalaista aikuisväestöä edustavasta aineistosta, Terveys 2000 –tutkimukseen vuosina 2000-2001 osallistuneista 30 vuotta täyttäneistä miehistä ja naisista (n=6 035) sekä Mini-Suomi –terveystutkimukseen vuosina 1978-1980 osallistuneista 45 vuotta täyttäneistä naisista (n=2 039). Tutkittavien terveyttä ja toimintakykyä selvitettiin terveyshaastatteluiden ja monipuolisen terveystarkastuksen avulla. Terveys 2000 –tutkimukseen osallistuneilta henkilöiltä arvioitiin luun lujuutta kantaluun ultraäänimittauksen (QUS) avulla. Tiedot seurannan aikaisista lonkkamurtumista saatiin valtakunnallisesta HILMO-rekisteristä.

Tutkimuksessa todettiin, että ikä, paino, pituus, seerumin 25-hydroksi-D-vitamiini (S-25(OH)D), fyysinen aktiivisuus, tupakointi ja alkoholin käyttö sekä menopaussi ja mahdollisen hormonikorvaushoidon kesto naisilla olivat yhteydessä ultraäänen vaimentumaan (BUA) ja nopeuteen (SOS) kantaluussa. Synnyttäneisyys oli yhteydessä pienempään lonkkamurtumariskiin postmenopausaalisilla naisilla. Ikä, pituus, paino tai kantaluun ultraääni-indeksi vyötärön ympärys, (OUI). S-25(OH)D sekä kaatumisalttiuteen liittyvät tekijät, kuten maksimaalinen kävelynopeus, Parkinsonin tauti ja keskushermostoon vaikuttavien lääkkeiden lukumäärä olivat lonkkamurtumia itsenäisesti ennustavia tekijöitä. Kun kaatumisen riskitekijät otettiin huomioon, kantaluun ultraäänimittaus toi väestötasolla lonkkamurtumariskin ennustamiseen vain vähäistä lisäarvoa.

Tässä tutkimuksessa esitetty yksinkertainen malli lonkkamurtumariskin arvioimiseksi perustui helposti saatavilla oleviin tekijöihin (ikä, sukupuoli, pituus, vyötärön ympärys, maksimaalinen kävelynopeus, Parkinsonin tauti, keskushermostoon vaikuttavien lääkkeiden lukumäärä). Mallin toimivuutta tulisi arvioida potilasaineistoihin perustuvissa pitkittäistutkimuksissa.

Avainsanat: kantaluun ultraäänimittaus, QUI, S-25(OH)D, kaatumisalttius, maksimaalinen kävelynopeus, lonkkamurtuma, riskin arviointi, ikääntyneet

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
TIIVISTELMÄ	5
ABBREVIATIONS	7
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	9
1 INTRODUCTION	10
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
2.1 Bone strength	12
2.1.1 Bone structure and physiology	12
2.1.2 Age-related changes	13
2.1.3 Osteoporosis	14
2.1.4 Assessment of bone strength	15
2.2 Hip fractures	17
2.2.1 Diagnosis and classification	17
2.2.2 Risk factors	18
2.3 Prediction of hip fracture	25
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	
4 STUDY POPULATIONS AND METHODS	
4.1 Study populations	37
4.1.1 Studies I, III and IV	37
4.1.2 Study II	
4.2 Methods	45
4.3 Statistical methods	48
5 RESULTS	50
5.1 Characteristics of the study subjects	50
5.2 Determinants of QUS (Study I)	51
5.3 Risk factors of hip fracture (Studies II-IV)	52
5.4 Multivariate prediction of hip fracture (Studies III and IV)	57
6 DISCUSSION	59
6.1 Determinants of QUS (Study I)	59
6.2 Risk factors of hip fracture (Studies II-IV)	60
6.3 Multivariate prediction of hip fracture (Studies III and IV)	65
6.4 Strengths and limitations	67
7 CONCLUSIONS	69
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	71
REFERENCES	73
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	89

ABBREVIATIONS

ADL	Activities of Daily Living
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMU	Bone Multicellular Unit
BUA	Broadband Ultrasound Attenuation
CI	Confidence Interval
CNS	Central Nervous System
CRF	Clinical Risk Factor
CV	Coefficient of Variation
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
DXA	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
FN	Femoral Neck
HR	Hazard Ratio
HRT	Hormone Replacement Therapy
IADL	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living
IOF	International Osteoporosis Foundation
PD	Parkinson's Disease
QCT	Quantitative Computed Tomography
QUI	Quantitative Ultrasound Index
QUS	Quantitative Ultrasound
R ²	Coefficient of Determination
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis

RR	Relative Risk
SD	Standard Deviation
SI	Stiffness Index
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
SOS	Speed of Sound
VOS	Velocity of Sound
WHO	World Health Organisation

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Kauppi M, Impivaara O, Mäki J, Heliövaara M, Marniemi J, Montonen J, Jula A. Vitamin D status and common risk factors for bone fragility as determinants of quantitative ultrasound variables in a nationally representative population sample. Bone 2009, 45:119-124.
- II Kauppi M, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, Jula A. Parity and risk of hip fracture in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 2011, 22:1765-1771.
- III Kauppi M, Impivaara O, Mäki J, Heliövaara M, Jula A. Quantitative ultrasound measurements and vitamin D status in the assessment of hip fracture risk in a nationally representative population sample. Osteoporos Int 2013, 24:2611-2618.
- IV Kauppi M, Stenholm S, Impivaara O, Mäki J, Heliövaara M, Jula A. Fall-related risk factors and heel quantitative ultrasound in the assessment of hip fracture risk: a 10-year follow-up of a nationally representative adult population sample. Osteoporos Int 2014, 25:1685-1695.

The original publications have been reproduced with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

1 INTRODUCTION

Fragility fractures constitute a serious health problem in elderly populations, worldwide. Hip fractures, in particular, commonly result in excess mortality, impaired functional capacity and substantial health care costs [1-4]. In Finland, about 7 000 hip fractures occur annually. Some 6 000 of these are first hip fractures [5]. The risk of hip fracture increases with age in both genders. Over 95 percent of the victims are 50 years or older [6]. Women are more likely to sustain a hip fracture and the female to male incidence ratio appears to be about two to one [4,7].

The risk of fragility hip fracture varies widely among countries. The annual age-adjusted incidence of hip fracture has recently been reported to range from 58 to 574 fractures per 100 000 persons among women and from 35 to 290 fractures per 100 000 persons among men [8]. Incidence rates reported from the Scandinavian countries are among the highest. According to statistics from 2003 to 2008 on Finnish subjects aged 50 years or older the annual incidence of the first hip fracture was 470 fractures per 100 000 persons among men [9].

The average age at the occurrence of hip fracture has increased over time. In Finland, a mean age of a hip fracture patient increased by seven years in women and by six years in men between the years 1970 and 2010 [10]. The age-adjusted incidence of hip fracture appears to be increasing in some countries, but levelling off or declining in others [4,10-13]. Nevertheless, even if the incidence declines, the number of hip fractures is likely to grow as a result of an increasing life expectancy and a larger number of elderly people in society [14,15].

Appropriate information on all major risk factors of hip fractures is essential for proper identification of subjects with a particularly high fracture risk and to refer these for a comprehensive clinical assessment and to receive preventive measures and care as required.

Bone mass (and therefore bone strength or fragility) is largely determined by heredity and a number of factors including age, various lifestyle factors such as nutrition, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption and by chronic disease conditions and medications [16]. Bone loss substantially accelerates in women as they pass the menopause [17]. Such factors, so-called clinical risk factors (CRF), can be used for the assessment of fracture risk. Bone mineral density measurements by means of dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) can serve the same purpose. Combinations of risk factors and density measurements are likely to improve the risk assessments [18].

Most hip fractures occur as a consequence of a fall [19]. One third of subjects aged 65 or over, and more than half of those aged 80 or over fall yearly [20,21]. Factors associated with poor mobility, impaired balance and poor vision predispose one to falls and therefore ultimately also to fractures [19,22-24].

Several risk factors increase fracture risk both by decreasing bone strength and increasing liability to fall. Typical examples of such factors include age, female gender, vitamin D deficiency, heavy alcohol intake, physical inactivity and certain diseases and medications [19,22,23].

Guidelines by the World Health Organization (WHO) and International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) propose that assessments of future fracture risk should be based on a 10-year probability of fracture [25]. Supported by the WHO, the Fracture Risk Assessment Tool (FRAX) has been developed for this purpose [26]. FRAX is based on age, gender, weight, height, smoking, alcohol intake, rheumatoid arthritis, use of systemic glucocorticoid therapy and a number of other potential causes of secondary osteoporosis. FRAX can be used with or without bone mineral density measurement. However, liability to fall is not taken into account by FRAX. Even if this algorithm may identify subjects at increased risk of fracture and help in clinical decisions, it is so far not known whether its application indeed will be able to prevent major fractures, such as hip fractures in Finnish men and women.

The majority of studies on the determinants and predictors of hip fractures have been carried out in women. In addition, the study populations of such studies have rarely been strictly representative of the general population and the follow-up periods have generally been rather short. We have had the opportunity to investigate these aspects of hip fracture in two rather large nationally representative study populations with fairly long follow-up periods.

In a nationwide survey covering large numbers of subjects living in dispersed and remote localities bone strength can hardly be expected to be assessed by means of DXA. Instead, quantitative calcaneal ultrasound (QUS) suits well for this purpose. The device is transportable and does not involve ionizing radiation, and above all, QUS has been shown to predict hip fractures comparably to DXA [27-29].

Prospective studies assessing calcaneal QUS together with clinical risk factors for hip fracture prediction are scarce [30]. Moreover, the impact of single risk factors or such factors in various combinations on the variation in hip fracture risk is uncertain. It seemed therefore pertinent to investigate the determinants of bone strength and the predictors of hip fracture by means of QUS in representative samples of Finnish men and women and, in particular, to construct a simple model for hip fracture prediction based on a limited number of readily available risk factors in a follow-up study extending up to 10 years.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The literature review of the present academic dissertation was based on searches performed through Medline database using search terms of relevant issues, such as bone physiology, determinants and measurement techniques of bone strength, osteoporosis, hip fracture incidence and risk factors of hip fracture. These searches were supplemented by manually reviewing bibliographies of eligible studies and relevant review articles. However, no systematic literature review was performed. The quality grading of the literature was based on an author's subjective assessment rather than on use of any quality assessment instruments [31].

2.1 Bone strength

2.1.1 Bone structure and physiology

The human skeleton consists of over 200 bones. They provide a rigid framework for locomotion that supports the body and maintains its shape. In addition, it protects vital organs and participates in mineral homeostasis. The skeleton is also a primary site of hemopoiesis [32].

Bones are made of proteins (mainly collagen) that are impregnated with crystals of calcium hydroxyapatite. This composite structure gives bone its contradictory properties of stiffness yet flexibility and lightness yet strength. The relative proportions of protein and mineral vary across anatomic sites according to the function a given bone usually performs [33].

According to their shapes bones can be divided into long (e.g., femur), short (e.g., tarsal bones), flat (e.g., hip bone, sternum) or irregular bones (e.g., vertebras) [32]. The outer layer of bone is composed of cortical (compact) bone, which is solid and dense. Cortical bone has an outer periosteal surface and inner endosteal surface. The interior of bone is filled with trabecular (cancellous) bone that is a spongelike network of plates and rods. The structure of trabecular bone makes the overall bone structure lighter and allows room for the blood vessels and marrow. Trabecular bone has also a much greater surface area and is metabolically more active than cortical bone. The relative proportion of cortical and trabecular bone is 80 to 20 percent of the total bone mass but varies greatly among different bones. For example, the proportion of trabecular bone ranges from 70 percent to 90 percent in vertebral bodies and in the heel and less than 10 percent in the midshafts of long bones such as the femoral shaft and radius. The neck of femur is 25 percent of trabecular bone [34].

Cortical and trabecular bone is normally formed in a lamellar way such that collagen fibrils are laid down in alternating orientations. This kind of structure

gives lamellar bone its significant strength. In nonlamellar or woven bone the collagen fibrils are laid down in a disorganized manner, and therefore woven bone is weaker than lamellar bone. Woven bone is formed during the formation of primary bone and may also be seen in some pathologic conditions [32].

Bone is a dynamic tissue and is constantly undergoing a change in response to environmental stimuli. These changes are performed throughout life in adaptive processes of modelling and remodelling. The cells engaged in these processes are osteoblasts (bone forming cells) and osteoclasts (bone resorbing cells), which compose bone multicellular units (BMU) [32]. Osteocytes ("bone maintainers") are involved in the remodelling process; e.g., by functioning as mechanosensory cells that sense and signal the need for adaptive processes [35]. They also comprise most of all bone cells in adult bone, and are the longest lived bone cells. In bone modelling, new bone is formed by osteoblasts without prior bone resorption. This process predominates during childhood and adolescence, and enables longitudinal and radial growth of bones as well as their adaptations in shape in response to physiologic stimuli and mechanical forces. During bone remodeling, bone formation is preceded by bone resorption performed by osteoclasts. By this process bone is renewed in order to maintain its strength and mineral homeostasis [32,36-38].

Normally, bone remodeling is balanced and only little changes in the total amount of bone occur. This is regulated by various physiologic and biomechanical factors. Systemic hormones (such as parathyroid hormone (PTH), calcitonin, thyroid hormone, insulin, growth hormone (GH), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) hormone, cortisone and sex hormones), cytokines, vitamins and minerals as well as mechanical loading have important regulatory roles [32]. Estrogen has an antiresorptive effect on bone by reducing osteoclastic activity, but also an anabolic effect by increasing the proliferation, differentiation and function of osteoblasts. Androgens play an important role in bone formation. Testosterone is likely to have an anabolic effect on bone formation by itself, but has also beneficial effects on bone by its conversion to estrogen [17]. PTH together with vitamin D has a role in regulating of calcium homeostasis, and already very small decreases in serum calcium stimulate the secretion of parathyroid hormone, which in turn releases calcium in the circulation [34].

2.1.2 Age-related changes

During growth, the balance between the volume of bone being resorbed and formed in the BMU is positive and leads to the addition of bone in each remodeling event. After the longitudinal growth has ceased bone mass and density continues to increase until the twenties or early thirties when the peak bone mass is achieved. Peak bone mass is largely (60-80%) determined by genetic factors, but also other factors, such as physical activity and nutrition play an important role during the growth [38]. After reaching the peak bone mass the remodelling rate decreases. When age advances, the amount of bone formed in each BMU, in

each site remodeled declines. This is likely to result in net bone loss especially in perimenopausal and postmenopausal phases when, due to estrogen deficiency, bone remodeling rate increases in women. Also, in men bone remodelling is likely to increase slightly along with increasing age [39]. An increased remodelling rate leads to trabecular thinning (predominant in men) and disconnection of trabeculae (predominant in women), cortical thinning and porosity [40]. During their lifespans, women lose about 50 percent of their trabecular bone and 30 percent of their cortical bone. Corresponding figures for men are 30 percent and 20 percent, respectively [41]. Achieving the highest possible peak bone mass during the growth period is important in order to maintain sufficient bone mass to withstand these changes. Age-related bone loss is partly compensated by concurrent periosteal apposition. Even though this periosteal apposition does not increase the total amount of bone, it increases the bending resistance by enlarging the diameter of the bone as well as by redistributing bone tissue further from the central axis of the bone [39,40]. However, as a consequence of all age-related changes in bone material and structural properties, aging bones' ability to absorb energy when loaded decreases and bones become more fragile and susceptible to fracture.

2.1.3 Osteoporosis

A WHO study group defined osteoporosis as: "a systemic skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue with a consequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture" [42]. According to a more recent definition from the NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis, osteoporosis is: "a skeletal disorder characterized by compromised bone strength predisposing to an increased risk of fracture" [43]. Operationally osteoporosis is defined on the basis of a BMD measurement. According to the WHO criteria, osteoporosis is defined as: "a BMD that lies 2.5 SDs or more below the average value for young healthy women (a T-score of \leq -2.5)" [42]. A T-score between -1 and -2.5 is thought to refer to osteopenia and a T-score of -1 or higher is considered as normal. T-score values of BMD were originally used in epidemiological studies to enable comparison among populations. It was only later when T-score values were applied to diagnostics of osteoporosis in clinical practice. Currently, the NHANES III female reference data is recommended to be used for T-score derivation occurring at the hip region for both women and men [44].

Osteoporosis is traditionally classified into primary and secondary osteoporosis [45]. Primary osteoporosis is thought to be related to the aging process, and can occur in both genders. However, it is often associated with hypogonadism that especially women experience after the menopause. Therefore, this condition is more common in women than in men (by a ratio of about 6 to 1). In secondary osteoporosis, the loss of bone mass results from a disease, medication or certain lifestyle factors. Important causes of secondary osteoporosis include: long-term use of systemic glucocorticoids, heavy alcohol use, smoking,

gastrointestinal disease, such as inflammatory bowel disease and celiac disease, hyperthyroidism, hyperparathyroidism and hypercalciuria. Also, diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis may result in osteoporosis [46,47].

2.1.4 Assessment of bone strength

Bone strength is determined by bone quantity; i.e., the amount of bone bulk, but also by structural and material properties of bone. Material properties include factors associated with bone mineral content and density, collagen composition as well as the number, size and localization of microdamage. Structural properties involve bone geometry and bone microarchitecture such as trabecular architecture, cortical thickness and porosity [33,48]. In clinical practice, bone strength is usually assessed by means of dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), quantitative computed tomography (QCT) and quantitative ultrasound (QUS) measurements.

DXA

BMD measured by means of dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is regarded as the method of choice in diagnosing osteoporosis [44]. DXA can be used to assess both axial (e.g., proximal femur and lumbar spine) and appendicular skeleton (e.g., radius and calcaneus). It can also be used to assess bone mineral content of the whole skeleton [49,50]. The first generation of DXA scanners (e.g., Hologic QDR-1000 and Lunar DPX) used a pencil beam X-ray, whereas new generation systems (e.g., Hologic QDR-4500 and Lunar Expert-XL) use a fanshaped X-ray beam. Because the X-ray has both high- and low-photon energies, two different types of tissue (mineralized and soft tissue) can be distinguished. Thus, a direct measurement of BMD without interference from soft tissue is possible. The result is an areal (g/cm²) and not a volumetric (g/cm³) BMD. This may lead to overestimation of BMD in large bones [49]. The accuracy of the DXA measurements for bone mineral content has been reported to be three to eight percent [51] and the precision (CV=coefficient of variation) is 0.6 to 1.9 percent [52,53]. The radiation dose for DXA measurement depends on device, measurement site and the scan mode used. The effective dose is generally low, ranging from 0.07 μ Sv used in peripheral scans with a pencil beam DXA [54] and up to nearly 60 µSv used in vertebral scan with fan-beam DXA [49,50].

BMD measured by means of DXA is assumed to account for 60 to 80 percent of bone strength. However, clinical implementation of BMD measurement has not been unproblematic. There are biological variations in the composition of bone. Differences also exist between the measurement techniques of DXA. Therefore T-scores measured at different sites and with different techniques are not commensurable [44]. The femoral neck is used as a reference site for the DXA measurement because of its high predictive value of hip fracture in many prospective studies [55,56]. There is a substantial overlap in BMD values among subjects who sustain a hip fracture and those who do not. DXA thus appears to be predictive of hip fracture rather at the population than at the individual level [57,58].

QUS

Quantitative ultrasound measurement is based on mechanical ultrasound waves (frequency range from 20 kHz to 100 MHz) that pass through bone and cause bone material to vibrate on a micro-scale. This in turn, alters the shape, intensity and speed of a propagating wave [59]. Based on this, bone tissue can be characterized in terms of speed of sound (SOS, m/s) and broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA, dB/MHz). In addition to SOS and BUA composite variables, such as stiffness index (SI) and quantitative ultrasound index (QUI) have been introduced. These variables are linearly weighted averages of SOS and BUA [60].

There are many different quantitative ultrasound devices on the market. Ultrasound devices can be divided into water-coupled (wet) or gel-coupled (dry) systems. Examples of wet systems are Achilles+ (Lunar Corp; Madison, WI, USA) and UBA 575+ (Walker Sonix Inc., Worcester, MA, USA), which is no longer available, provides a background for current systems. Dry systems include CUBA Clinical (McCue Plc; Winchester, UK) and Sahara Clinical Bone Sonometry (Hologic Inc., Bedford, MA, USA). The measurement sites may differ between the devices. However, in the clinical setting the most widely used quantitative ultrasound measurement site is calcaneus [61,62]. One reason for this is that calcaneus is mostly composed of trabecular bone, which is metabolically more active than cortical bone, and is thus more sensitive to the changes in bone density and structure. In addition, calcaneus is a weight-bearing bone having two nearly plane-parallel sides and is covered only by thin soft-tissue layers, which makes the measurement easier [63]. The short-term precision (CV) of QUS ranges between 2.5 to 6.0 percent for BUA, 3.1 to 5.5 percent for SOS and 3.3 to 3.5 percent for OUI [64,65].

Previous studies have shown QUS values to correlate reasonably well with BMD measured by means of DXA, the strongest associations being found in site-specific measurements (e.g., calcaneus) [66]. However, according to previous meta-analysis, QUI has been shown to have relatively low sensitivity and specificity as for identifying individuals determined osteoporotic by DXA measurement [67]. For example, at QUI T-score threshold level of -1.5, the summary estimate of sensitivity was 66% (95% CI=53-77 %) and the specificity was 74% (95% CI=66-81%). This may arise from the fact that these two techiques partly measure different properties of the bone. In addition to bone mineral density, QUS is influenced by structural properties of the bone. For example, QUS values differ depending on the orientation of the bone sample being measured, which suggests that QUS values mirror mechanical anisotropy of the bone. In addition, QUS has been shown to correlate with structural parameters measured by histomorphometry [63,68,69].

Although QUS is not a diagnostic method of osteoporosis comparable to dual energy X-ray absorptiometry, it has other assets. It is portable, less expensive than DXA and free of ionizing radiation. QUS has been shown to discriminate between the subjects with and without fractures, and to predict hip and other fragility fractures equally well as DXA [27-29,64,65,70,71]. However, the information about hip fracture prediction with QUS in men is rather scarce [29,72,73].

QCT

Quantitative computed tomography (QCT) uses a calibration standard to convert Hounsfield Units (HU) of the conventional CT image to bone mineral density values. It may be used to assess bone mineral density both in axial spine (multidetector CT) and in appendicular skeleton; e.g., forearm, tibia and calcaneus (high-resolution peripheral quantitative CT) [50,74,75]. Compared to other techniques, the main advantage in QCT measurement is its ability to measure true volumetric BMD (g/cm³). Thus, the result is not size-dependent. With QCT, it is also possible to assess trabecular and cortical bone separately. Moreover, it enables an assessment of bone microstructure [75,76]. The short-term precision (CV) of spinal, hip and peripheral QCT range between 0.9 to 4 percent. The in vivo accuracy lies between four to 15 percent. Radiation exposure of QCT protocols vary depending on the imaging site and technique used. The effective doses for multidetector CT measurements are of the order of <0.01-2.6 mSv, whereas approximate effective doses for high-resolution peripheral QCT scans may be as low as <0.005 mSv [50,75,77].

There is evidence that spinal QCT can be used to make decisions about the initiation of treatment, and it is also useful in monitoring changes in BMD over time and the response to treatment. In women, spinal and peripheral QCT measurements predict vertebral and hip fractures, respectively. However, evidence of such prediction is lacking in men. In addition, further prospective studies are needed to assess the ability of spinal QCT to predict hip fractures in both men and women [75,77]. One of the limitations of QCT is its relatively high radiation exposure compared to, for example, DXA. In addition, accessibility of general CT scanners is limited. Also, the reference data for QCT, particularly in men and children, are few. Therefore, QCT has been mainly used as a research tool and its clinical use has thus far been limited [77].

2.2 Hip fractures

2.2.1 Diagnosis and classification

Diagnosis of hip fracture is based on a clinical X-ray examination. Hip fractures can be classified into two main groups: intracapsular or femoral neck fractures and extracapsular fractures [78]. Extracapsular fractures include pertrochanteric

and subtrochanteric fractures. Figure 1 shows the locations and diagnostic codes (ICD-10) of these fractures of the proximal femur [79]. In Finland, the ICD-10 codes have been used since year 1996 following the ICD-8 and ICD-9 codes that were used during the years: 1987 to 1995 [80]. These codes are reported in the National Hospital Discharge Register. This register has been shown to be a reliable and accurate source of information about hospital admissions and discharges. The coverage with respect to hip fractures has been reported to be 98 percent [81,82].



Figure 1. Classification and diagnostic codes (ICD-10) of fractures in the proximal femur (adapted and modified from previous report [9]).

2.2.2 Risk factors

The risk of hip fracture is determined not only by bone fragility but also by nonskeletal or fall-related factors, including those associated with the fall event, such as the impact force and hardness of landing surface [40,83]. Many of the risk factors interact in a complex manner and may be defined as multifactorial risk factors [19]. Figure 2 summarizes the most well-recognized risk factors of hip fracture related to bone-strength, fall risk or both.



Figure 2. Risk factors of hip fracture. Adapted and modified from previous reports [16,19,22-24,40,83-86].

Bone strength-related risk factors

Bone strength is determined by its material properties, such as mineral content and density, and the structural properties, such as bone geometry and microarchitecture of bone [33,48]. BMD is the surrogate measure of bone strength most often assessed in clinical practice. Prospective studies have shown that at the population level, each SD reduction in femoral neck BMD measured with DXA approximately doubles the risk for hip or other osteoporotic fractures [55,56]. Similar increments in risk have been found for one SD reductions in calcaneal QUS variables assessed by different ultrasound devices. For example, the gradients of risk (RR/SD) of hip fracture have been estimated to be 1.69 and 1.96 for BUA and SOS, respectively [30]. QUS variables have also been suggested to measure some structural and qualitative properties in addition to BMD [63,68,69].

Excessive weight loss has been found to be harmful for bone health, and is associated with an increased risk of hip fracture especially in thin subjects [87,88]. An inverse association between body weight and hip fracture risk has been established in several prospective studies [89-92]. This is likely to be associated with a lower bone mineral density in subjects with low body mass, but it may also reflect underlying chronic conditions. In addition, an increased risk of hip fracture in these subjects may partly result from thinner fat padding protecting the hip in the occasion of a fall [93]. However, the association between body weight and fracture risk appears to be non-linear. Leanness is a risk factor of fracture rather than obesity as a protective factor [94]. Obesity may protect against some fractures, such as hip fractures, but be a risk factor for others (for example, ankle and humeral fractures) [95]. Also tallness has been found to be a predictor of hip fracture in several previous studies [19,23,92,96]. The increased risk of hip fracture in taller subjects is presumably a consequence of biomechanical factors, such as hip axis length (HAL) [23,97]. Hip fracture risk increases by 1.6- to 1.9fold for each SD increase in HAL above the mean of the control population [97]. In addition, the femoral neck-shaft angle, femoral neck width and upper femoral neck area as geometrical characteristics may contribute to hip fracture risk [98]. Also, a greater impact during a fall may increase the risk of fracture in taller subjects compared to shorter subjects.

An adequate intake of calcium is an important factor for normal growth and development of the skeleton [99]. Calcium supplementation may increase bone mass during the growth period [100] and decrease bone loss in premenopausal women [101]. However, the results about the association between calcium supplementation and bone strength or fracture risk later in life are less clear-cut. Most of previous prospective cohort studies and RCTs have found no significant association between calcium supplementation alone and hip fracture risk, and even adverse effects have been reported [102-104]. It is likely that when the intake of calcium is at a sufficient level, supplementation may have only little effect on fracture risk. On the other hand, in order to obtain significant reductions in fracture risk, an adequate supply of vitamin D along with calcium may be needed, and the benefit of supplementation is likely to be evident mostly among subjects deficient of these nutrients [105]. According to previous evidence, a calcium intake of 1200 mg/d in combination with vitamin D (cholecalciferol) doses of 800 IU/d would reduce the hip fracture risk in elderly institutionalized women who are deficient in calcium and vitamin D [106,107].

High sodium intake increases calcium excretion in urine. This, in turn, may accelerate bone loss and osteoporosis [108]. A longitudinal study on postmenopausal women has shown that halving the sodium intake was associated with a significantly reduced rate of bone loss [109]. However, it is not known how

much this contributes to fracture risk because studies assessing sodium intake and fracture risk are lacking.

Active smoking has been established to be a significant risk factor for future hip fracture in several prospective cohort studies [91,92,110,111]. Lower BMD in smokers compared to non-smokers explains a part of a higher fracture risk. However, there are BMD-independent factors that contribute to fracture risk. These potentially include certain lifestyle factors related to smoking habit, such as low physical activity, that may increase the risk of falls. In addition, smoking may induce changes in microarchitecture of bone not captured by BMD measurement [112].

Long-term systemic glucocorticoid use is an important risk factor for secondary osteoporosis and hip fracture. The association between glucocorticoid use and bone loss or fracture risk has been shown to be dose-dependent with more pronounced effects seen with daily doses of at least five mg (of prednisolone or equivalent) [113,114]. Other chronic conditions associated with decreased bone strength and increased hip fracture risk include hyperparathyroidism [115], gastrointestinal diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease [116], untreated celiac disease [117] and hyperthyroidism [118].

Estrogen deficiency is mainly responsible for the age-related bone loss in postmenopausal women but also in older men [17]. Amenorrhea related to endocrine abnormalities (e.g., anorexia nervosa, athletic amenorrhea) and early menopause as well as a short fertile period increases the risk of osteoporotic fractures [119-121]. On the other hand, HRT may prevent adverse effects of menopause on the skeleton and decrease fracture risk in postmenopausal women [122,123]. The previously found association between increased parity and decreased risk of hip fracture [124,125] is likely to reflect beneficial effects of longer estrogen exposure period on bone structure and strength.

The risk of hip and other osteoporotic fracture is higher among those whose parent has suffered a hip fracture [126-128]. Heritable factors, including genetic and environmental factors have been estimated to determine 50 to 85 percent of the variance in BMD depending of the skeletal site [126,127]. In addition, there is a heritable contribution from femoral neck geometry [129], regulation of bone remodelling, S-25(OH)D and PTH concentrations [130,131], age at menopause [132] and muscle strength [133], all of which are likely to contribute to bone fragility and hip fracture risk.

Fall-related risk factors

Falls are common among older subjects. One third of people aged 65 years or older and over half of those aged 80 years or older fall every year [20,21]. Although only a few percent of these falls lead to fracture, most of hip fractures occur as a consequence of the fall [19]. Impaired neuromuscular functions, such as decreased muscle strength, walking difficulties and impaired balance are among the most important predictors of falls and fractures [24,128,134-137].

Walking speed is a good indicator of muscle strength, balance and other sensorimotor functions [138,139]. There are different test protocols to measure walking speed. The most often used distances are 2.4 meters [140,141], 4 meters [142,143] and 6.0 or 6.1 meters [135,144]. Also, a 10-meter walking course has often been used in Finland [145,146]. Either usual or maximal walking speed can be measured [147,148]. There is no established optimal threshold value of walking speed for fracture prediction but a usual walking speed of 1.0 m/s have been used to predict several future adverse health outcomes in elderly subjects [147].

Chronic conditions such as Parkinson's disease or stroke affect postural control and balance through neuromuscular or sensory decline, and are likely to increase risk of falls and hip fractures [23,149]. Similarly, certain central nervous system active (CNS) medication, especially benzodiazepines, antidepressants and antipsychotics have been shown to be independently associated with increased risk of falls and fractures in older subjects [85,150-156]. Polypharmacy with such medications, in particular, has been shown to be harmful [86,151]. In addition, dizziness or postural hypotension [157,158], prior history of falls [159-161] and impaired vision [162-164] have been shown to be associated with increased risk of falls, injurious accidents and hip fractures.

Multifactorial risk factors

Many risk factors for hip fracture act through decreasing bone strength and quality as well as by increasing liability to fall. Age is one example of this kind of multifactorial risk factor. The risk of hip fracture has been estimated to increase 13-fold between the ages of 60 and 80. Only a four-fold increase of this can be explained by decreases in bone mineral density [9]. The rest is associated with increased liability to fall, and perhaps with other age-related aspects of health and functional capacity that are not necessarily captured by routine measurements.

Most of hip fractures occur in postmenopausal women. This arises partly from the postmenopausal estrogen deficit, which predisposes to an increased risk of bone fragility. Also, peak bone mass and size attained during the growth period remains smaller in women compared to men, thus leaving women with less reserve to withstand age-related losses in bone strength [17]. In addition, the incidence of falls and fall-related injuries in old age has is higher among women compared to men [165].

An adequate supply of vitamin D from diet or from the synthesis in the skin is essential for preserving calcium homeostasis and bone health. Vitamin D (cholecalciferol, D_3 and ergocalciferol, D_2) is metabolized by the liver to 25hydroxyvitamin D (S-25(OH)D) and subsequently in the kidneys to its active form, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)2D). The production of this active form of vitamin D is regulated by plasma parathyroid hormone (PTH) and serum calcium and phosphorus levels [166,167]. S-25(OH)D is usually used to determine a subject's vitamin D status. Although there is no consensus on optimal levels of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D, concentrations between 50 and 80 nmol/l have been suggested to be sufficient with regard to bone health [167,168]. This is based on S-25(OH)D concentrations at which measured PTH levels begin to level off [169,170].

In addition to its actions on bone, vitamin D is proposed to have beneficial effects on muscle strength, balance control and physical function [171]. These effects, in turn, are likely to decrease the risk of falling and fracture. However, the results concerning the association of BMD and hip fracture risk with vitamin D status have been inconsistent [172-179]. Case-control studies and cohort studies have often found lower levels of S-25(OH)D in hip fracture cases compared to controls or inverse relation between vitamin D status and fracture risk. Randomized controlled trials (RCT), however, have often showed no significant difference in BMD or hip fracture risk between those randomised to supplementation and controls [172,177]. There is growing evidence that vitamin D supplementation would be more efficient in reducing hip fracture risk if combined with calcium [105,176,178,180]. Vitamin D supplementation appears to be beneficial for bone health mainly among those with low S-25(OH)D levels [181]. In women, the relationship between S-25(OH)D and fracture risk has been suggested to be dependent on race or ethnicity. In white women, a significant negative association between S-25(OH)D and fracture risk has been found, whereas no significant association or even higher fracture risk in higher S-25(OH)D values have been reported in Black, Asian, Hispanic or Native American women [182].

Alcohol abuse is detrimental for bone health [183,184]. It may increase the risk of falls and is associated with increased fracture risk [92,156,185,186]. In contrast, several studies have found moderate alcohol use to be associated with higher bone density [187-189], and the results on the association between moderate alcohol use and hip fracture risk are controversial [22,186,190,191].

Many prospective cohort studies have shown an inverse association between physical activity and hip fracture risk in men and women [92,111,192-195]. Physical inactivity tends to be associated with reduced bone strength [196,197], muscle strength and motor coordination [198], all of which are likely to increase fracture risk. Raising the level of physical activity during the lifespan has been found to be associated with a decreased fracture risk [194,199]. Similarly, decreasing the level of physical activity increases hip fracture risk later in life [200].

The association between physical activity and fracture risk may be confounded by health status and the genetic inheritance of qualification for a physically active lifestyle [195]. Subjects with a better health and muscular function are more likely to choose a physically active lifestyle. Yet, some previous studies have found a beneficial effect of leisure-time physical activity with respect to hip fracture risk even independently of health status and function [192,200]. However, because there is a lack of randomized controlled trials evaluating the causality between physical activity and hip fractures, the potential confounding cannot be ruled out [195,201].

Handgrip strength is a good indicator of overall muscle strength and also predicts physical disability and mobility limitation [202,203]. In addition, maintenance of handgrip strength over perimenopausal transition appears to be associated with lower bone loss [204], and low handgrip strength predicts hip fractures in elderly men and women [135,205]. Mechanical loading that muscle induces on an adjacent bone has an important role in determining bone mass and strength [206]. Moreover, appendicular muscle mass correlates with bone cortical thickness also at sites not adjacent to mechanical loading [207]. This finding suggests that there are some additional paracrine and endocrine interactions between bone and muscle tissue by which they coordinate their masses [208].

The use of antiepileptic drugs, such as phenytoin, phenobarbital and carbamazepin associate with an accelerated rate of bone loss and consequent bone fragility [209,210]. In addition, prospective studies show an increased risk of falls and hip fractures among postmenopausal women and elderly men using antiepileptic drugs independent of BMD [152,211].

The increased risk of fractures that are related to rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [212,213] is partly attributed to the effects of glucocorticoid treatment. However, an increased fracture risk exists also in RA patients not using oral glucocorticoids. RA is associated with joint inflammation, consequent joint destruction and periarticular bone loss. In addition, chronic systemic inflammation in RA may result in increased risk of systemic bone loss [212,214]. Also, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID), commonly used to treat RA, may contribute to fracture risk [215,216]. Moreover, RA is associated with an increased risk of falling, which is at least partly due to joint pain, impaired muscle strength, fatigue, postural instability and consequently reduced functioning [217-220].

Subjects with type 1 diabetes have generally decreased BMD, whereas those with type 2 diabetes have often normal or high BMD [221]. However, the risk of hip fracture has been found to be higher in subjects with either type 1 or type 2 diabetes, compared to subjects without this disease [23,128,221,222]. It is suggested that hyperglycemia, elevated oxidative stress and hypercysteinemia, which are often associated with diabetes, may disturb collagen cross-link formation that impair bone properties independently of BMD [223]. Also, peripheral neuropathy, a common complication associated with long-lasting diabetes, is likely to increase risk of falling and risk of fracture [224].

Hypertension associates with increased calcium excretion in urine and consequent bone mineral loss in some [225,226] but not in all [227,228] studies. Large case-control and prospective studies have found a higher risk for hip and other osteoporotic fractures in hypertensive subjects [84,229,230]. A recent study based on the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study proposed the association between hypertension and fracture risk to be independent of BMD [231]. Hypertension may damage brain structures controlling gait control and balance,

which in turn may predispose to falls [232,233] and consequent fractures. However, more information is needed about the association of hypertension and hip fracture risk. For example, the contribution of antihypertensive medication to this association is inconclusive. Certain groups of antihypertensive drugs, such as thiazide diuretics and beta-blockers, increase BMD and decrease the risk of hip fractures [234,235]. On the other hand, some studies have found negative [236,237] or no association [238,239] between antihypertensives and bone strength. An increased risk of falling and fall-related injuries among users of antihypertensive drugs demonstarted in some studies [152,153,240] is likely to be due to the acute effects of medication on postural blood pressure causing orthostatic hypotension. On the other hand, antihypertensive medication may decrease the risk of fall in the long run by improving blood pressure control and preventing orthostatic hypotension [241]. However, the role of individual classes of hypertensive medication with respect to fall risk has not been explicitly determined [240].

Several earlier studies have shown previous fragility fracture to be a significant predictor of future osteoporotic fractures, including hip fractures [22,128,159,160,242,243]. A minor part of this association has been explained by low BMD the proportion of which has been shown to decrease with age. The mechanism for the BMD-independent increase in fracture risk is not fully understood but is likely to be associated with coexisting morbidity increasing the risk of fall [160,242].

2.3 Prediction of hip fracture

Because several independent risk factors for hip fracture have been identified, the challenge is to develop methods for accurate identification of subjects at increased risk for hip fracture who might benefit from preventive or therapeutic measures. For this, it is essential to determine those factors and combinations of them which contribute the most to the risk. Measures of bone strength and fall-related factors have independent effects on fracture risk, and combining such factors and other so-called clinical risk factors (CRF) improves the detection of subjects at increased risk of various fragility fractures, including hip fractures [24,144,159,160,244]. Within a given level of BMD, women with a greater number of clinical risk factors are at increased risk of sustaining a hip fracture. Correspondingly, within a category of number of CRF, lower BMD has been found to be associated with higher rates of hip fracture [128].

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) have recommended that the risk of fracture should be expressed as a short-term absolute risk (for example, 10-years) [25]. Assessment tools using this approach have been established, of which the WHO Fracture Risk Assessment Tool (FRAX) [26], QFracture algorithm [245] and Garvan Fracture Risk Calculator [246] are supposedly the most commonly used tools for assessing fracture risk. Table 1 shows a summary of these fracture risk assessment tools.

The FRAX algorithm, developed in conjunction with the World Health Organization, was published in 2008. It calculates the 10-year probability of hip and other major osteoporotic fractures, such as spine, wrist and humerus [18], and can be applied to subjects aged 40 to 90 years. The FRAX tool is available online as well as in simplified paper version. The model of FRAX is based on data of a series of meta-analyses derived from nine population-based cohorts from around the world, and has been validated in 11 independent cohorts [244]. Variables included in the FRAX algorithm are age, weight, height, and dichotomized risk factors, such as prior fragility fracture, parental history of hip fracture, current tobacco smoking, the use of long-term glucocorticoids, rheumatoid arthritis, alcohol consumption and other causes of secondary osteoporosis, such as type I diabetes, osteogenesis imperfecta, untreated long-standing hyperthyroidism, hypogonadism or premature menopause (<45 years), chronic malnutrition or malabsorption and chronic liver disease. The algorithm can be used either with or without BMD measurement (femoral neck). Both risk of fracture and risk of death are taken into account while computing the fracture probability [26].

FRAX has been criticized for it does not take into account the risk of falling or variables, such as vitamin D status or calcium deficiency in fracture prediction. It also lacks a dose-response relationship for alleged risk factors, such as use of glucocorticoids, smoking or alcohol intake, and does not take into account racial and ethnic differences that may influence the risk [247-249]. In addition, the cohorts, are not truly representative of the general populations. For instance, practically all of the subjects in the validation cohorts have been women [244]. However, some recent studies have suggested a similar ability of FRAX to predict hip fractures in men compared to women [250,251].

QFracture algorithm, first published in 2009, was designed to estimate an absolute risk of osteoporotic fracture and hip fracture in primary care [252]. This algorithm is based on a large database of routinely collected data from 357 general practices in the United Kingdom (2 357 895 patients aged 30-85 in the development cohort) and is validated by data from 178 practices (1 275 917 patients aged 30-85 in the validation cohort). The QFracture algorithm allows fracture risk estimation from one to 10 years in subjects aged 30 to 99 years. Variables used are readily available in patients' healthcare records or that patients themselves probably know without the need for clinical measurements or laboratory tests. These include age, gender, BMI, smoking, alcohol use, history of falls, parental history of osteoporotic fracture, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, asthma, cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic liver or kidney disease, gastrointestinal malabsorption, use of tricyclic antidepressants or corticosteroids, use of HRT and endocrine disorders. QFracture was updated in 2012 when further developments were performed according to the recommendations made by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). These included

extending the age range to patients older than 85 years and including additional variables such as previous fragility fracture, ethnic group, epilepsy and use of anticonvulsants, care home residency, additional inflammatory arthropaties, chronic obstructive airway disease, type 1 diabetes, Parkinson's disease and dementia. There were 3 142 673 patients in the development cohort and 1 583 373 patients in the validation cohort of the updated algorithm. The updated algorithm has been shown to explain 71.7% of the variation in hip fracture risk in women and 70.4 percent in men [245]. It thus shows improved performance compared to the 2009 algorithm. Compared to FRAX, QFracture is at least as effective in identifying patients with an increased risk for hip fracture [252].

The Garvan Fracture Risk Calculator was developed in 2007 using data collected in the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study conducted by the Bone and Mineral Research Program of Sydney's Garvan Institute of Medical Research [246]. The Garvan Fracture Risk Calculator integrates the femoral neck BMD T-score information with four clinical risk factors; i.e., age, gender, number of falls in the past year and number of fractures since age 50 years. This tool allows 5-and 10-year probability calculation for hip and other types of fractures, including for example spine, wrist, humerus, pelvis, rib, sternum and distal femur. Elderly subjects, aged 60 to 96 years can be assessed. The Garvan tool has shown moderate and similar discriminative ability compared to FRAX tool both in older men and women [253-255]. However, because the number of risk factors included in the Garvan tool is limited, it may underestimate fracture risk in patients with many clinical risk factors. Another limitation of this tool is that it is available only for subjects aged 60 years or older. In addition, it is based only on the Australian population [256].

	FRAX [26,244]	QFracture [245,252]	Garvan [246]
Year of publishing	2008	2009 (updated in 2012)	2007
Development and validation cohorts	Development: 9 prospective population- based cohorts (n=46 350)* Validation: 11 prospective population-based cohorts (n=230 486)**	Development: database from 357 general practices in the UK (n=2 357 895 in 2009; n=3 142 673 in 2012) Validation: database from 178 practices in the UK (n=1 275 917 in 2009; n=1 583 373 in 2012)	Development: Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study (DOES) cohort (n=2216) Validation: internal validation by the bootstrap method
Target group	Subjects aged 40-90 years	Subjects aged 30-99 years	Subjects aged 60-96 years
Variables included	Age, gender, weight, height, prior fragility fracture, parental history of hip fracture, current tobacco smoking, alcohol consumption, ever use of long-term glucocorticoids, RA, causes of secondary osteoporosis (type 1 DM, osteogenesis imperfecta, untreated long-standing hyperthyroidism, hypogonadism or premature menopause (<45 years), chronic malnutrition, or malabsorption and chronic liver disease), BMD (optional)	Age, gender, BMI, history of falls, history of fragility fracture, parental history of osteoporotic fracture, ethnicity, smoking, alcohol use, type 1 or type 2 DM, cardiovascular disease, asthma or COPD, dementia, PD, cancer, RA or SLE, epilepsy, chronic liver or kidney disease, gastrointestinal malabsorption, endocrine disorders, use of anticonvulsants, antidepressants or corticosteroids, care home residency, HRT	Age, gender, number of falls in the past year, number of fractures since age 50 years, FN BMD T-score (optional)
Risk scores	10-year probability of hip or other osteoporotic fractures (clinical spine, humeral, forearm)	 to 10-year probability of hip and other osteoporotic fractures (wrist, vertebral, proximal humerus) 	5- and 10-year probability of hip and other types of fractures (spine, wrist, humerus, pelvis, rib, sternum and distal femur)
*The Rotterdam Study, EVOS/EF **THIN, SOF, York, Geelong I an RA=rheumatoid arthritis, DM=dii neck	OS, CaMos, Rochester cohort, Sheffield col nd II, OPUS, PERF, EPIDOS, Miyama, SEN abetes mellitus, PD=Parkinson's disease, S	nort, DOES, Hiroshima cohort, two cohorts AOF, WHI LE=systemic lupus erythematosus, HRT=h	from Gothenburg ormone replacement therapy, FN=femoral

Summary of the most commonly used fracture risk assessment tools. Table 1.

The development and validation cohorts of these fracture risk assessment tools as well as study populations of previous prospective studies assessing bone strength together with clinical risk factors for hip fracture prediction have rarely been representative of the general population. The majority of these studies have been carried out in women. Table 2 summarizes the characteristics and main results of the prospective studies assessing bone strength combined with clinical risk factors for prediction of hip fracture. Some of these studies had relatively large study populations. The number of participants ranged between 225 and 12064. However, none of these studies were based on a truly representative sample of the general population. Only four of these studies included also men in their study populations [72,73,135,243]. The mean follow-up times ranged from 33 months up to 14 years, but extended over five years only in seven studies [128,135,137,243,257-259]. Eight of the studies assessed QUS for its prediction [72,73,137,144,159-161,257]. of hip fracture Six of these studies [137,144,159,160,257,259] included fall-related risk factors, such as walking speed and muscle strength in the final analyses. Only two prospective studies used the Sahara device as a QUS measurement method [137,161]. One study [243] estimated the proportion of hip fractures that may have been hypothetically reduced by elimination of certain risk factors. According to this analysis, approximately 57 percent of hip fracture cases in women and 37 percent in men were attributable to the presence of low BMD, postural instability and/or quadriceps weakness, a history of falls and prior fracture. None of these studies assessed how much of the variation in hip fracture risk could be explained by single risk factors or different combinations of them.

Against this background, it seemed necessary to study the determinants of bone strength assessed by means of QUS, and the predictors of hip fracture in representative samples of the Finnish adult population. In particular, it seemed pertinent to construct a simple model for hip fracture prediction based on a limited number of readily available risk factors in a follow-up study extending up to 10 years.

	Main findings	Adjusted for age, center and each other, gait speed (RR=1.3, 95% CI=1.1-1.6), score tandem walk (RR=1.2, 95% CI=1.0-1.5), visual acuity (lowest quartile) (RR=2.0, 95% CI=1.1-3.7) and FN BMD (RR=1.8, 95% CI=1.5-2.2) were significant predictors of hip fracture. Fall-related factors and BMD had similar discriminant values, but their combined assessment improved the prediction of hip fracture.	Adjusted for age, FN BMD and each other, BUA (RR=1.4, 95% CI=1.2-1.7) and gait speed (RR=1.5, 95% CI=1.3-1.7) were significant predictors of hip fracture. Taking age into account, the sensitivity of BMD at the 50% cutoff was sig. higher compared to BUA (85% vs. 74%), but not compared to gait speed (79%).
	Studied CRFs	Age, center, self-reported physical disability and motion difficulty, chair stand test, foot tapping test, walking speed, tandem stands, tandem stands, tandem circunference, walking outdoors, leaving neighborhood, cleaning house, leisure physical activity, handgrip and quadriceps strength, corrected visual function, medication use	Age, gait speed
	Bone strength measurement device /parameter	DPX-Plus (Lunar)/ FN BMD	Lunar Achilles (Lunar Corporation, Madison WI) /BUA; DPX- Plus (Lunar)/ FN BMD
	Source of hip fracture information	Self-report, confirmation through radiographs	Self-report, confirmation through radiographs
	Follow- up time (mean) /no. of hip fract.	1.9 yrs/ 154	33 months/ 170
CRF) combined	Participants	7575 women aged 75+ yrs (mean 80.5 yrs) living in five French areas, recruited from population-based listings, such as voter-registration or health- insurance membership rolls	5895 women aged 75+ yrs (mean 80.5 yrs) living in five French areas, recruited from population-based listings, such as voter-registration or health- insurance membership rolls
factors (Name/place of study [ref.]	*EPIDOS/ France [24]	*EPIDOS/ France [144]

Prospective studies for hip fracture risk assessment with bone strength measurement (DXA or QUS) and clinical risk Table 2.

Adjusted for each other SI, age, BMI, prior fracture, history of fall, prior exposure to estrogen, chair test, and DM were significant risk factors of hip fracture. Compared to SI values of \geq 77.6 adjusted HRs for SI values of 59.1-77.6 and \leq 59.1 were 2.1 (95% CI=1.3-3.3) and 4.5 (95% CI= 2.8-7.1), respectively. Combining CRF to SI appears to correctly identify more women at low risk than either alone.	Adjusted for each other SI, age, BMI, prior fracture, chair test, history of fall, smoking and DM were significant and independent predictors of hip fracture. SI alone showed higher GR than CRF alone, and combination of SI and CRF had higher GR than either alone.	Adjusted for age, history of falls, prevalent fractures, family history of fractures and calcium intake, HRs for 1 SD decreases were 1.56 (95% CI=1.13-2.16) for BUA, 1.21 (95% CI=0.1-95-1.56) for SOS and 1.40 (95% CI=1.01-1.95) for QUI. Other significant predictors of hip fracture were age, family history of fracture and calcium intake.
Age, height, weight, BMI, prior fracture, history of fall, prior estrogen treatment, chair test, DM, sedentary lifestyle	Age, height, weight, BMI, prior fracture, prior fall, estrogen treatment, chair test, DM, education, physical activity, smoking, use of glucocorticoids, early menopause, surgical menopause, thyroid hormone treatment, parity	Age, weight, height, BMI, age at menarche and menopause, parity, history of falls, prevalent fractures, family history of fractures, smoking, alcohol use, calcium intake, physical activity, sensory problems, medication use
Lunar Achilles (GE-Lunar Corp)/SI	Lunar Achilles (GE-Lunar Corp)/SI	Sahara (Hologic, Waltham, MA, USA)/ QUI
Self-report or family member report, conf. from medical records	Self-report or family member report, conf. from medical records	Self-report, X-ray, radiological or surgical reports
3.2 yrs/ 307	3.2 yts/ 307	2.8 yrs/ 54
12064 women aged 70-100 yrs pooled from two prospective cohort studies, EPIDOS and SEMOF (SEMOF: a cohort of 7062 Swiss women 70+ yrs recruited from official state register to attend a prospective multi- centre study comparing three QUS devices in the assessment of hip fracture)	12064 women aged 70-100 yrs pooled from two prospective cohort studies (EPIDOS, SEMOF)	5146 women aged 65+ yrs (mean 72.3 yrs), a non- randomized sample of consecutive cases recruited from 58 primary care centers throughout Spain
EPISEM/ France & Switzerland [159]	EPISEM/ France & Switzerland [160]	ECOSAP/ Spain [161]

Adjusted for age, handgrip strength, poor health, cognitive impairment, walking speed and each other, weight ($p = 0.0156$), trunk maneuver ($p=0.0075$), epilepsy ($p=0.0084$), kyphosis ($p=0.0058$), poor circulation ($p=0.0019$) and short-term steroid use ($p=0.01$) were independent predictors of hip fracture within 3 years. Within 5.5 years independent risk factors were weight ($p=0.0035$), reported poor health ($p=0.034$), epilepsy ($p=0.0081$) and age ($p=0.0065$).	Adjusted for age, clinic, FN BMD, BMI, history of heart attack and stroke, chair test, leg power, narrow walk and walking speed were significantly associated with hip fracture risk. When all variables of physical performance were entered to the model, only chair test remained significant.	Adjusted for FN BMD, history of fracture, fall during the previous 12 months, quadriceps weakness, and postural instability were each associated with increased risk of hip fracture in men and women. The combination of these risk factors accounted for 57% of hip fractures in women and 37% in men.
Age, previous fracture, height, weight, kyphosis, physical activity, smoking, walking speed, handgrip strength, chair stand, trunk maneuver, frequency of climbing stairs, timed 10 foot taps, disability (ADL), fall history, tanden stands, mobility, reported health, medical problems, drug and dictary supplement use, dictary calcium intake, foot problems, circulation, cognitive impairment (CAPE)	Age, clinic, BMI, history of heart attack or stroke, handgrip strength, walking speed, chair test, narrow walk, leg power	Age, gender, quadriceps strength, body sway, history of falls, history of fracture
UBA 1001 (111-P, Walker Sonix)/ BUA	Hologic 4500 DXA/ FN BMD	LUNAR DPX-L densitometer (GE-LUNAR Corp., Madison, WI, USA)/ FN BMD
General practice and hospital records	Self-report, confirmed by physician review or radiological records	Radiologists' reports
3 yrs/ 37, 5.5 yrs/ 63	5.3 yrs/ 77	12 yrs (md)/ 115
1289 women aged 70+ yrs (mean 77.9 yrs) recruited from an age-sex register of a general practice, including those in residential accommodation	5902 men aged 65+ yrs, living in six US communities, communities, community- designed to be representative of community- dwelling, ambulatory men aged 65+ yrs	960 women and 689 men aged 60+ yrs (mean 70.6 yrs) recruited from the whole population of city of Dubbo, Australia
MOF/UK [257]	MrOS Study/ US [135]	*/**b0ES/ Australia [243]

Many of the studied risk factors were independent predictors of hip fracture (including calcaneal BMD, age, inability to perform chair test, previous fracture, poor depth perception). Women with multiple risk factors and low BMD had an especially high risk of hip fracture.	Adjusted for each other, BMD, older age, history of fracture after age 50, maternal history of hip fracture after age 50, greater height at age 25, impaired cognition, slower walking speed, nulliparity, type 2 DM and depth perception each independently predicted a 1.17- to 1.84-fold increase in hip fracture risk.
Age, height, weight, BMI, waist and hip circumference, knee height, education, hair color, ethnic origin, medication and supplement use, health status, medical history, reproductive history, smoking, alcohol use, history of maternal hip fracture, self-rated health, caffeine intake, calcium intake, walking for exercise, on feet ≤4 h/day, ADL, IADL, chair test, muscle strength, walking speed, tandem stands and tandem walk, cognitive function, visual acuity and contrast sensitivity, depth perception, blood pressure, pulse	Age, height, weight, BMI, body composition, wrist and waist circumference, medication and supplement use, health status, medical history, functional status (ADL, IADD, tobacco and alcohol use, history of fracture, maternal hip fracture, history of falls, depression, social support, neuromuscular function (incl. digit symbol test, walking speed, quadriceps strength, chair stand etc), cognitive function, depth perception
1) OsteoAnalyzer (SiemensOsteon , Wahiawa, Hawaii)/ calcaneal BMD 2) QDR 1000 (Hologic, Waltham, MA)/ FN BMD (performed for 7786 women)	QDR 1000 (Hologic, Waltham, MA/ total hip BMD
Self-report, confirmed by review of radiographs	Self-report, confirmed by review of radiological reports
4.1 yrs/ 192	10.1 yrs/ 602
9516 women aged 65+ yrs (mean 72 yrs) recruited through lists such as voter- registration	6787 women aged 66+ yrs (mean 73.3 yrs) recruited from four US clinical centers clinical centers through lists such as voter- registration
*SOF/ US [22]	*SOF/ US [128]

Adjusted for age and gender, RR for 1 SD decrease in BUA was 2.3 (95% CI=1.4-3.7) and in SOS 1.6 (95% CI=1.1-2.3). Other significant predictors were older age, low weight and immobility.	Significant age-adjusted predictors of proximal femur fractures were: FN BMD (HR=1.96, 95% CI=1.10-3.49]), trochanteric BMD (HR=2.23, 95% CI=1.19-4.20), estradiol index (estradiol/SHBG) (HR=1.55, 95% CI=1.06-2.27), testosterone index (testosterone/SHBG) (HR=1.64, 95% CI=1.10-2.43) and SHBG (HR=1.40, 95% CI=1.10-2.43) and SHBG (HR=1.40, 95% CI=1.10-1.77). In a multivariable model including age, bone density, free estradiol index, dietary protein and 24-h urine calcium, FN BMD (HR=2.51, 95% CI=1.10-2.05) were significant predictors of hip fracture.	Adjusted for age, gender, weight, height, smoking and history of fractures, BUA (HR=2.22, 95% CI=1.28-3.82) and VOS (HR=1.99, 95% CI=1.32-3.00) were significant predictors of hip fracture.
Age. gender, weight, history of falls and fractures, physical activity, use of walking aid, immobility, living in a home (vs. apartment) for the elderly	Age, weight, height, BMI, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, medical history, 7- day dietary record, balance, heel-to-toe walking test, muscle strength, serum and urine calcium, serum phosphorus, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, immunoreactive PTH, osteocalcin (OC), estrone, estradiol, testosterone, androstenedione, sex- androsteneding globulin (SHBG), urinary creatinine, hydroxyproline, glomerular filtration rate (GFR)	Age, gender, height, BMI, weight, medical history (incl. fractures), smoking,
CUBA Clinical instrument (McCue Ultrasonics, Winchester, UK)/ BUA, SOS	Dual photon absorptiometry/ FN BMD, BMC	CUBA sonometer (McCue Ultrasonics, Winchester, UK/ BUA, VOS
Self-report confirmed by physician	Self-report confirmed by medical records	Diagnostic codes from East Norfolk health authority database
2.8 yrs (md)/ 31	14.0 yrs/ 28	1.9 yrs/ 31
578 women and 132 men aged 70+ (mean 82.2) years recruited from homes or apartment houses for the elderly in Amsterdam area	225 women aged 37-94 years (md 68 yrs), an age- stratified random sample of women aged 30 yrs or over using the medical records linkage system of the Rochester Epidemiology Project	8328 women and 6471 men aged 42-82 years, recruited from general practices
The Netherlands [72]	"Rochester/ US [258]	EPIC- Norfolk/ UK [73]

		ex); SOS
High BMI (OR=0.87, 95% CI= 0.80-0.95) and low functional mobility (TUG \ge 11 vs. <11 s.) (OR=3.51, 95% CI=1.76-6.98) were significantly and independently associated with hip fracture risk.	Adjusted for weight, age (RR=1.6, 95% CI=1.1- 2.5), BMI (RR=1.9, 95% CI=1.3.3), fracture history (RR=4.2, 95% CI=1.5-11.6), FN BMD (RR=2.6, 95% CI=1.2-5.7) and troch BMD (RR=3.0, 95% CI=1.4-6.6) were significantly associated with hip fracture risk. After backwards Cox regression analysis fracture fistory, BMI and mobility were most strongly associated with hip fracture risk.	al content) iffness index); QUI (quantitative ultrasound ind
Age, weight, height, BMI, alcohol use, smoking, coffee consumption, lifetime leisure-time physical activity, calcium intake, functional mobility (TUG), medical history, medication, participation in activities during the lifespan	Age, weight, height, BMI, yrs since menopause, residence, postmenopausal fracture history, alcohol use, smoking, mobility (5- point walking score), medication, S-25(OH)D, S- 1.25(OH)D, sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), serun intact PTH, osteocalcin, alkaline phosphatase, phosphate, albumin, calcium, creatinine, hydroxyproline, type I collagen crosslinked N-telopeptide (NTx), ca excretion	density); BMC (bone miner asound attenutation); SI (st
 Osteometer DTX 200 OSteometer Meditech Roedovre, DK)/radial BMD; Sahara (Hologic Bedford, MA) /BUA, SOS, QUI 	Norland XR-26 /FN BMD, troch BMD	ID (bone mineral A (broadband ultu FRAX tool me Rick Calculate
Hospital discharge register, confirmed from patient records	Self-report, confirmed by physician	ieasurement: BM ieasurement: BU) on cohorts of the he Garvan Fracti
5 yrs/ 53	5 yrs/ 16	to DXA m to QUS m y of sound or validatio
1222 women aged 70-73 (mean 72 yrs) living independently in Oulu area, recruited through the National Population Register of Finland	348 women 70+ yrs (mean 80.3 yrs) recruited from apartments and homes for the elderly in Amsterdam and its vicinity	parameters referring parameters referring ound); VOS (velocit ded in development
Finland [137]	The Netherlands [259]	Bone strength Bone strength (speed of s *Cohorts inclu

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The objective of this study was to identify determinants of bone strength and predictors of hip fracture in representative samples of Finnish adults.

The specific aims were:

1. To identify determinants of the estimated bone strength assessed by means of calcaneal quantitative ultrasound

- 2. To determine the bone strength-related risk factors of hip fracture
- 3. To ascertain the fall-related risk factors of hip fracture
- 4. To construct a simple multifactorial model for hip fracture prediction
4 STUDY POPULATIONS AND METHODS

4.1 Study populations

4.1.1 Studies I, III and IV

Studies I, III and IV were based on the Health 2000 Survey, a comprehensive nationwide health survey conducted in Finland during 2000-2001 (Figures 3 and 5) [260]. A stratified two-stage cluster sample comprised subjects aged 30 years or over living in mainland Finland (community and institutions). The study frame was regionally stratified according to five university hospital regions, each with approximately one million habitants. From each of these university hospital regions 16 health care districts were sampled as clusters (80 health center districts out of the total of 249 districts in mainland Finland). The 15 largest health center districts in the country were all selected in the sample with probability of 1, and the remaining 65 health center districts by systematic probability proportional to the size method. From these 80 health center districts a sample of 8 028 persons was selected by systematic random sampling (Figure 3). In order to include a sufficient number of elderly persons, subjects aged 80 or over were oversampled (2:1) relative to their proportion in the population.

The structured health interview elicited information about participants' health status, illnesses, use of health care services, functional capacity, health behavioral factors and sociodemographic factors. The participation rate of the health interview was 87% (n=6 986) of the original study sample. A comprehensive health examination performed in a health center after the health interview included assessment of functional capacity, symptom interview and clinical examinations performed by a physician. Measurements of blood pressure, heart rate, resting ECG, basic anthropometrics and heel bone quantitative ultrasound were performed. Also, fasting blood samples for serum glucose and 25-hydroxyvitamin D analyses were taken. The participation rate of the comprehensive health examination was 79% (n=6 354). Questionnaires elicited information about different aspects of subjects' functional capacity, quality of life, common symptoms, leisure time activities, lifestyle factors, living environment, psychological experiences and job perceptions. A detailed description of the study design, data collection methods and health and functional status of population of this health Survey has been reported elsewhere [260].



Figure 3. Study areas of the Health 2000 Survey.

4.1.2 Study II

Study II was based on the Mini-Finland Health Examination Survey, which was a comprehensive health survey implemented during 1978-1980 (Figures 4 and 6) [261]. The study population was a stratified two-stage cluster sample drawn from the national population register to represent Finnish adults aged 30 years or older. Firstly, forty representative strata were selected out of clusters of one or more neighboring municipalities. One cluster was then picked at random to represent each stratum. Secondly, a sample of 8 000 subjects (3 637 men and 4 363 women) was randomly drawn from the population register by systematic sampling (Figure 4).

The study included a health interview, which elicited information about participants' health, functional capacity, medications, use of health care services and aspects of health behavior. Altogether 7 703 subjects (over 96% of the whole sample) participated in the health interview. A basic health examination was carried out 1-6 weeks after the interview and included interviews on symptoms, several examinations, such as blood pressure and pulse measurements, ECG and spirometry. Also, blood and urine samples were taken and a joint function test evaluating musculoskeletal impairment was performed. Altogether 7 217 subjects (90% of the whole sample) participated in the health examination. Details of the study design and implementation of this health survey has been reported elsewhere [261].



Figure 4. Study areas of the Mini-Finland Health Examination Survey.

The Health 2000 Survey and the Mini-Finland Health Survey were both conducted in accordance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki [262]. The Health 2000 Survey was approved by the Ethics Committee for epidemiology and public health in the hospital district of Helsinki and Uusimaa, Finland. All participants gave their written informed consent. The flow of studies (I, III, IV) based on the Health 2000 data is shown in Figure 5. The flow of study II, based on the Mini-Finland survey, is shown in Figure 6. The data and the inclusion criteria used in the original publications are shown in Table 3.

		4)
Study	Survey	Design	Age (years)	Participants	Inclusion criteria
_	The Health 2000 Survey	Cross-sectional	30-97 (mean 52.0)	n=6035 (75%), 2736 men and 3299 women	-Participated in a health examination (proper) -Information on QUS measurements and vitamin D status available
=	The Mini- Finland Health Survey	Prospective (mean follow-up period of 13 years)	45-95 (mean 63.2)	n=2028 (80%), all postmenopausal women	-Participated in an interview and health examination -Information on parity and age at the last menstrual period available -No previous hip fractures
∃	The Health 2000 Survey	Prospective (mean follow-up period of 8.4 years)	50-98 (mean 62.9)	n=3305 (75%), 1433 men, 1872 women	-Participated in a health examination (proper) -Information on QUS measurements and vitamin D status available -No high-energy hip fracture
2	The Health 2000 Survey	Prospective (mean follow-up period of 9.8 years)	55-97 (mean 66.4)	n=2300 (80%), 969 men, 1331 women	-Participated in a health examination (proper) -Information on QUS measurements, vitamin D status, maximal walking speed and handgrip strength available -No high-energy hip fracture -No previous hip fractures
Note: Perce	intages in parenthes	es indicate the proport	ion of individuals	in each category of the original st	tudy sample.

Study designs, populations and inclusion criteria of participants in the original studies Table 3.

42



Figure 5. A flowchart for studies I, III and IV based on the Health 2000 data.



Figure 6. A flowchart for study II based on the Mini-Finland survey.

4.2 Methods

Hip fractures (Studies II, III and IV)

The follow-up information about hip fractures was drawn from the National Hospital Discharge Register, which has been shown to be an accurate and reliable source of information with 98% coverage and 98% sensitivity with respect to hip fracture diagnoses [82]. The patients admitted to the hospital for primary treatment of hip fractures (Studies III and IV: codes 72.0-72.2 as primary or secondary diagnoses according to ICD-10; Study II: code 820 according to ICD-8 and ICD-9) were identified. High-energy fractures; i.e., those following falls exceeding one meter from one level to another or traffic accidents or causalities alike were defined according to the external cause codes from the Hospital Discharge Register and were excluded (Studies III and IV).

QUS (Studies I, III and IV)

Quantitative ultrasound measurements were performed by trained examination nurses. A Hologic Sahara device (Hologic Bedford, MA, USA) was used to record broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA, dB/MHz) and speed of sound (SOS, m/s) transmitted in a medio-lateral direction across the calcaneum. Both SOS and BUA are higher in healthy than in osteoporotic calcaneal bone. The measurement was performed on the right foot except in case of two repeated error messages, in which case re-measurement was performed on the left foot. A Sahara device was always kept at room temperature when used, and temperature changes did not pose problems in connection with transits to different examination locations. There were five devices, one for each of the five districts. Each of them was checked for performance quality daily before the first participant using the phantom provided by the manufacturer. Other quality measures used to monitor the quality of the examination included repeat and parallel measurements on field team staff, on subjects in same examination group and parallel measurements between groups (ten voluntary participants). The reliability coefficient for repeat measurements (n=193) covering all field teams was 0.91 for BUA and 0.92 for SOS. The QUS values were compared with BMD measured by DXA (Norland XR-26) in 105 volunteers with bone densities distributed throughout the clinical relevant range [263]. The correlation coefficients ranged for SOS from 0.53 (with BMD at the femoral neck) to 0.57 (with BMD at the lumbar spine) and for BUA from 0.46 and 0.56, respectively (p<0.0001 for all correlations). Furthermore, a strong correlation (r=0.72) was found between calcaneal BUA and bone mineral density (BMD) measured by peripheral DXA (PIXI) at the same site [66]. A composite variable, the quantitative ultrasound index (QUI) [264], was calculated from the values of BUA and SOS.

S-25(OH)D (Studies I-IV)

Venous blood samples were taken from arm vein after a minimum four hour fasting. The serum specimens were immediately (no later than 90 min from sampling) frozen to -20° C on site. The samples were transferred from the field storage points to final storage in boxes packed in dry ice no later than 1-2 weeks after sampling. For the final storage, the samples were kept in -20° C (the Mini-Finland) or -70° C (the Health 2000) until analysed and were protected from light when processed. S-25(OH)D was measured by radioimmunoassay (the Health 2000: Incstar, Stillwater, MN, USA/ the Mini-Finland: Diasorin). In the Health 2000 Survey (studies I, III, and IV) the intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) was 3.5% and the interassay CV was 6.9% at the concentration of 36 nmol/l. The limit of detection was 3.8 nmol/l. In the Mini-Finland survey (study II) the interassay coefficient of variation was 7.8% at the mean level of 47.3 nmol/l (n=167) and 9.12% at the level of 131.3 nmol/l (n=135).

Anthropometry and body composition (Studies I-IV)

Weight and height were measured with light clothing without shoes, height to the nearest 0.5 cm and weight to the nearest 0.1 kg. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by the square of height (m²). Waist circumference was determined as the mid-point between the lowest rib and the iliac crest. Circumference measurements were recorded to an accuracy of 0.5 cm. Body fat was estimated (in kilograms and percentage) with an impedance meter (InBody 3.0, Biospace Seoul, Korea). This instrument measured the resistance of the arms, trunk and legs at frequencies 5, 50, 250, and 500 kHz and makes use of eight tactile electrodes of which two are in contact with the palm and thumb of each hand and two with the anterior and posterior aspects of the sole of each foot.

Smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity (Studies I-IV)

Smoking reported in a health interview was classified into three categories: neversmokers, former smokers (those who had quit smoking at least one month prior to the survey) and current smokers (studies I, III and IV). In Study II, the category of current smokers was further classified into current smokers of cigars, pipe or fewer than 20 cigarettes a day, and current smokers of 20 cigarettes or more a day.

Alcohol use was estimated on the basis of the reported average consumption during the past month and expressed as absolute ethanol in grams/week (g/wk). In studies I and III, this was classified into the following three categories: no use, moderate use and heavy use. The limit of heavy use was set at 280 g/wk in men and 140 g/wk in women [265]. In study II, alcohol use was classified into four categories: no use, use of 1-49, 50-249 and >249 g/wk, respectively. In study IV, the following classification was used: no use, use of 1-84 g/wk and use of >84 g/wk. The limit of 84 g/wk was based on the guidelines used in Italy and in the United States recommending no more than 7 units of alcohol per week for elderly

men and women [266]. This limit has also been suggested by the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health.

A questionnaire elicited information on leisure-time physical activity that was classified into three categories: active (regular physical activity, for example jogging, cycling or swimming), moderately active (physical activity along with other activities, for example, fishing or gardening) and sedentary (no actual physical activity).

Walking speed (Study IV)

Walking speed was measured with a stopwatch over a distance of 6.1 meters [267]. Subjects were asked to walk the distance as quickly as they could, starting from their normal, standing posture behind the start line and continuing at full speed beyond the end line. Walking aids were allowed when necessary. The reliability of this test was good (intraclass correlation coefficient, ICC=0.77, n=163) [268].

Handgrip strength (Study IV)

Handgrip strength was measured in Newtons from the dominant hand with a handheld dynamometer (Good Strength, IGS01, Metitur Oy, Jyväskylä). The subjects were asked to grip the handle as hard as possible for 3-5 seconds. The test was repeated after 30 seconds and the maximum result was recorded. If the difference between the two measurements was greater than 10%, a third test was done again 30 seconds later. Intraclass correlation coefficient of this test was 0.95 (n=265) [268].

Chronic conditions (Study IV)

Information on Parkinson's disease and stroke was based on the structured sets of questions and on the diagnostic assessments by the field physicians in connection with the clinical examination. In addition, information drawn from the National Hospital Discharge register was used to assess the occurrence of stroke [268]. Subjects were considered hypertensive if they were entitled to special reimbursement for hypertension medication, had a mean systolic blood pressure \geq 140 mmHg or mean diastolic blood pressure \geq 90mmHg or had been diagnosed with hypertension and were receiving antihypertensive medication. Subjects were considered to have diabetes if their fasting plasma glucose level was \geq 7.0 nmol/l or if they were using insulin or oral antidiabetic medication.

CNS active medication and liability to fall (Study IV)

Faintness or dizziness as recent symptoms were inquired about and classified into one of the following three categories: not at all, quite little and to some extent or more. The number of falls during the previous 12 months while walking was classified into two categories: 0-1 and 2 or more falls. Reported information about central nervous system (CNS) active medication (such as opioids, anticonvulsants,

antipsychotics, anxiolytics, hypnotics and sedatives, antidepressants or psycholeptics and psychoanaleptics in combination) was classified into one of three categories according to the number of such drugs in current use: 0, 1-2 and 3 or more drugs.

Self-rated health and level of education (Study II)

Self-rated health was classified according to a three-point scale: good, moderate or poor. The level of education (Study II) was classified according to the total years of education as follows: <8 years (less than primary school), 8-12 years (primary school plus lower or higher level secondary education) and >12 years (higher education, mostly studies or degrees at university level).

Reproductive history and use of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (Studies I and II)

Women were asked about their reproductive history and were considered postmenopausal after an absence of menses for 12 months. Years since menopause were calculated from the last (physiological) menstruation onwards. The use and eventual years of HRT were also asked about. The number of children was asked about, and parity was classified into three categories: nulliparous (no births), parous with one to two births and parous with three or more births.

Follow-up (Studies II, III and IV)

In Study II, the follow-up period started at the beginning of 1978 and continued until the end of year 1994, until the hospitalisation due to the first hip fracture, or until the date of death, whichever came first. Mean follow-up period was 13 years (26 200 person-years). In Studies III and IV the follow-up period started at the beginning of 2000 and continued until the end of follow-up period, until the hospitalization due to a hip fracture or until the date of death, whichever came first. In Study III, the follow-up period continued until the end of 2009, and resulted in a mean follow-up period of 8.4 years (27 757 person-years). In Study IV, the follow-up period continued until the end of 2011, with a mean follow-up of 9.8 years (22 540 person-years).

4.3 Statistical methods

All statistical analyses were performed with the SAS software (version 9.1/9.3; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and SUDAAN, which takes into account the sampling design including the oversampling of those aged 80 years or over (Research Triangle Institute, Release 10.0.1). Data of baseline characteristics of the study population are reported as mean values (SD/SE) and/or percentages. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Study I

Pearson's correlation was calculated between the QUS (BUA and SOS) variables and determinants of bone fragility. The analysis of covariance was used to compare the age-adjusted ultrasound results according to smoking status, alcohol use and physical activity. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed in order to assess independent roles of S-25(OH)D, age, measures of body built, lifestyle factors and menopausal status in women as determinant of QUS variables.

Study II

Cross-sectional associations between the alleged risk factors of hip fracture and parity were analyzed with multivariate logistic regression. Cox's proportional hazards models were used to estimate the strength of association between parity and the risk of hip fracture during the follow-up. The full model excluding the first 5 or 10 years of follow-up from the analysis was also performed in order to explore the stability of the proportional hazards.

Studies III and IV

Comparisons between men and women and between subjects with and without an incident hip fracture were performed using Student's t test for continuous variables and chi-square test for categorical variables. Cox's proportional hazards models were used to estimate predictors of hip fracture. Adjusted hazard ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated. For continuous variables, HRs were computed for an increment of one standard deviation (SD). Only factors that proved significant predictors of hip fracture in the gender and age adjusted models were included in the fully adjusted model. The predictive power of the models including various combinations of risk factors was further assessed by means of coefficients of determination (R²) [269]. In Study IV, alongside with the R² assessments, the net reclassification improvement (NRI) method [270] was used to quantify the changes in classification of subjects to low or high risk categories of fracture risk after additions of different variables to the model. A 3% fracture risk was used as a threshold for these risk categories. This threshold is the 10-year hip fracture probability above which the treatment of osteoporosis is suggested to become cost-effective in the USA according to the National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF) Guide Committee [271].

5 RESULTS

5.1 Characteristics of the study subjects

Study I

The study population consisted of 6 035 participants (55% women) of the Health 2000 Survey for whom the information on QUS measurements and vitamin D status was available (75% of the original sample). The mean age of men and women was 50.9 and 53.0 years, respectively. The mean values of BUA and SOS were 81.8 dB/MHz and 1556 m/s in men and 75.1 dB/MHz and 1550 m/s in women, respectively. Vitamin D status was similar in men and women (45.1 in men *vs.* 45.2 nmol/l in women). Half of the women were postmenopausal. Characteristics of the study population are shown in detail in Study I, Table 1.

Study II

The study population consisted of 2 028 women aged 45 years or over at baseline who had participated in the Mini-Finland Health Survey and for whom the information on parity and age at the last menstrual period was available (80% of the participating women aged 45 years or over). The mean age of women at baseline was 63.2 years. The mean S-25(OH)D concentration was 38.3 nmol/l. The number of women who had never given birth (nulliparous) was 395. The number of women with one to two births was 737, and 881 women had at least three births. During a mean follow-up of 13 years (26 200 person-years), 133 of the women sustained their first hip fracture at the mean age of 79.7 years.

Study III

Subjects aged 50 years or over at baseline for whom information on QUS measurement was available formed the study population of study III. After the exclusion of victims of high-energy-based hip fractures (n=20), the study population consisted of 3 305 subjects (75% of those within this age range in the original sample) of which 57 percent were women. The mean age of subjects at baseline was 62.9 years. The mean values of BUA, SOS and QUI were 76.2 dB/MHz, 1546 m/s and 93.9, respectively. The mean S-25(OH)D concentration was 46.8 nmol/l. Characteristics of the study population are shown in detail in Study III, Table 1. During a mean follow-up of 8.4 years (27 757 person-years) 95 of the subjects sustained a hip fracture at the mean age of 79.4 years. Of these, 89 were considered first hip fractures.

Study IV

Subjects aged 55 years or over at baseline who participated in the health examination and for whom information on walking speed, handgrip strength, QUS

measurement and S-25(OH)D was available formed the study population of study IV. After the exclusion of all subjects with previous hip fracture (n=19) and those with emerging high-energy-based hip fractures (n=9) the study population consisted of 2 300 subjects (80% of those aged 55 or over in the original sample) of which 58% were women. The mean age of subjects at baseline was 66.4 years. The mean value of QUI was 93.1 and the mean S-25(OH)D concentration 47.6 nmol/l. Handgrip strength among study population was on average 315.1 N. The mean value of maximal walking speed was 1.5 m/s. The prevalence of Parkinson's disease was 0.45 percent, and 7.7 percent of subjects had suffered from stroke. Almost three-quarters of subjects suffered from hypertension, and almost 10 percent were diabetics. The baseline characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1 of Study IV. During the mean follow-up of 9.8 years (22 540 person-years), 96 (3.6%) of the subjects sustained a first hip fracture at the mean age of 80.7 years. Fracture of the femoral neck was the most common type of hip fracture representing 65 percent of all first hip fractures.

5.2 Determinants of QUS (Study I)

Higher age was associated with lower values of SOS and BUA in women. S-25(OH)D and height correlated positively with both QUS variables, and weight, BMI and fat mass were positively associated with BUA. On the other hand, BMI, fat percentage and fat mass correlated negatively with SOS in women.

Higher concentrations of S-25(OH)D were associated with significantly higher values of SOS and BUA also in multiple linear regression modelling including all significant bivariate correlates of QUS variables as covariates (Study I, Table 3). These associations appeared to be linear over the S-25(OH)D distribution (7-134 nmol/l) (p values of the squared term of S-25(OH)D in the adjusted models were non-significant). Mean values of SOS adjusted for age, height, weight and lifestyle factors were 1550 and 1554 m/s in the lowest and in the highest quintiles of S-25(OH)D, respectively. Corresponding figures for BUA were 74.1 and 77.2 dB/MHz. Other significant and independent determinants of BUA and SOS in women were age, height and postmenopausal status, all of which were negatively associated with the QUS variables. Weight was an independent determinant of BUA. The studied lifestyle factors, alcohol consumption, smoking and physical activity, were also significant and independent determinants of the QUS variables, except smoking and physical activity for BUA. In postmenopausal women analysed separately, S-25(OH)D, weight and years on HRT showed an independent positive contribution to both SOS and BUA. Age and smoking, on the other hand, were negative determinants of both QUS variables studied.

In men, age was negatively associated with SOS. S-25(OH)D, weight and BMI were significant positive correlates of BUA and SOS, whereas height, fat percentage and fat correlated positively with BUA.

According to the results of a multiple linear regression model, S-25(OH)D was significantly associated with SOS and BUA in men, when all other significant bivariate correlates of QUS variables were adjusted for. Similarly to women, this association appeared to be linear over the S-25(OH)D distribution (5-134 nmol/l) also in men. The adjusted mean values of SOS were 1551 and 1560 m/s in the lowest and in the highest quintile of S-25(OH)D, respectively. Corresponding values in BUA were 80.0 and 83.4 dB/MHz. Other independent and significant determinants of QUS variables were age and height and these were negatively associated with SOS and weight, which was positively associated with both SOS and BUA. Alcohol consumption, smoking and physical activity were significant and independent determinants of both QUS variables in men.

5.3 Risk factors of hip fracture (Studies II-IV)

Studies II-IV assessed age, gender, anthropometry, parity, QUI, S-25(OH)D, walking speed, handgrip strength, lifestyle factors, number of falls, chronic conditions and medication for their prediction for hip fracture. Table 4 summarizes independent risk factors for hip fracture according to the studies.

Variables	Study II ^a	Study III ^b	Study IV ^c
Age	х	х	х
Gender		х	
Weight		х	
Height		Х	Х
Waist circumference			Х
S-25(OH)D	х	Х	
Smoking	Х		
Alcohol consumption	х		
Physical activity	Х		
Parity	х		
QUI		Х	Х
Walking speed			Х
Parkinson's disease			x
CNS active medication			Х

Table 4.	Independent risk factors for hip fracture (x-marked) according to
studies II-	IV.

^a Adjusted for the variables in the column (x-marked) and for BMI, age at the last menstrual period, level of education and self-rated health

^b Adjusted for the variables in the column (x-marked)

^c Adjusted for the variables in the column (x-marked) and for gender and handgrip strength

Age and gender (Studies II-IV)

Increasing age was a strong independent predictor of hip fracture in all follow-up studies. In Study II, including women aged 45 years or over at the baseline, one SD increment in age (9.2 years) was associated with over a threefold increase in hip fracture risk when adjusted for BMI, reproductive factors, vitamin D status, lifestyle factors, level of education and self-rated health (Study II, Table III). Similarly in Study III including both men and women, aged 50 years or older, one SD increase in age (9.8 years) was associated with a 3.5-fold risk of hip fracture (Study III, Table 3). Also in Study IV, including men and women aged 55 years or older, one SD increase in age (8.2 years) was associated with over a two-fold risk of hip fracture (Study IV, Table 3).

Age was a significant predictor of hip fracture also in a separate analysis among subjects aged 75 years or over (n=528, Study IV). According to this

analysis one SD increase in age (3.6 years) was associated with almost a 1.5-fold risk of hip fracture when gender was taken into account (HR=1.44, 95% CI=1.18-1.76).

Female gender appeared to be significantly and independently associated with hip fracture risk in Study III (HR=2.39, 95% CI=1.15-4.96) after adjusting for age, height, weight, S-25(OH)D and QUI. However, no significant association between gender and hip fracture risk was found in Study IV, either in the age-adjusted model or in the model further adjusted for height, waist circumference, QUI, handgrip strength, walking speed, Parkinson's disease and number of CNS active medication (Study IV, Table 3).

QUS (Studies III and IV)

Bone strength was assessed by means of calcaneal quantitative ultrasound. On the basis of measured BUA and SOS values, QUI was estimated. This was used in the final risk assessment models. Adjusted for gender, age, height, weight and S-25(OH)D, one SD increment in QUI (21.7) was associated with a 40 percent lower risk of hip fracture in Study III (Table 3). Conversely, a decrease of one SD in QUI was associated with a 67 percent increase in risk (HR=1.67, 95% CI=1.16-2.34). Similarly, one SD increment in BUA (19.5 dB/MHz) was associated with a 38 percent lower risk (95% CI=0.46-0.84) and one SD increment in SOS (35.3 m/s) was associated with a 39 percent lower risk (95% CI=0.42-0.87) for hip fracture. In Study IV, with the follow-up time extending up to 11 years, QUI was also a significant predictor of hip fracture. Adjusted for gender, age, height, waist circumference and fall-related factors, such as walking speed, handgrip strength, number of CNS active medication and Parkinson's disease, one SD increment in QUI (21.7) was associated with a 28 percent lower risk for subsequent hip fracture (HR=0.72, 95% CI= 0.53-0.98).

The quintiles of QUI were further examined to assess if there would be a certain cut-off value with respect to hip fracture risk. Adjusted for gender, age, height and weight, QUI values of less than 74.3 appeared to be associated with a doubled risk for hip fracture (HR=2.14, 95% CI=1.21-3.78) compared to values greater than or equal to 74.3 (Study III). QUI did not quite reach statistical significance in the age and gender adjusted analysis (HR=0.74, 95% CI=0.53-1.01) performed among subjects aged 75 years or over (Study IV). However, the cumulative hazards of hip fracture, adjusted for gender, height and waist circumference, showed a substantial divergence between the quintiles of QUI after this age (Study IV, Figure 1 a). Yet, when the hazards were further adjusted for fall-related factors (maximal walking speed, Parkinson's disease and the number of prescribed CNS active medication), they were markedly smaller and less divergent between the quintiles (Study IV, Figure 1 b).

S-25(OH)D (Studies II-IV)

S-25(OH)D was an independent and significant predictor of hip fracture in Studies II and III. In Study II, one SD increment in S-25(OH)D (18.3 nmol/l) adjusted for age, BMI, reproductive factors, lifestyle factors, education and self-rated health, was associated with a 21 percent lower risk of hip fracture (RR=0.79, 95% CI=0.64-0.98) among postmenopausal women. In Study III, including both men and women aged 50 years or over, one SD increment in S-25(OH)D (17.5 nmol/l) was associated with a 31 percent lower risk (HR=0.69, 95% CI=0.55-0.87) when adjusted for gender, age, height, weight and QUI. According to the analysis of quintiles of S-25(OH)D, the values less than 60.0 nmol/l indicated a significantly higher risk of hip fracture (HR=2.53, 95% CI=1.17-5.46) compared to values greater than or equal to 60.0 nmol/l (Study III). In Study IV, S-25(OH)D did not quite reach statistical significance in the model adjusted for age and gender (HR=0.85, 95% CI=0.70-1.03).

Anthropometry (Studies II-IV)

Higher body weight was associated with a lower risk of hip fracture in Study III when adjusted for gender, age, height, S-25(OH)D and QUI (HR=0.73, 95% CI=0.54-0.99). However, in Studies II and IV BMI or weight did not quite reach statistical significance (Study II, Table 3; Study IV, Table 3). On the other hand, waist circumference appeared to be an independent predictor of hip fracture in Study IV. One SD increment in waist circumference (12.4 cm) was associated with a 29 percent lower risk for hip fracture (HR=0.71, 95% CI=0.55-0.92).

Tall stature was a risk factor of subsequent hip fracture. In Study III, the risk was increased by 82 percent per 9.5 cm increment in height (HR=1.82, 95% CI=1.43-2.32) when adjusted for gender, age, weight, S-25(OH)D and QUI. Similarly, in Study IV an increment of 9.4 cm in height was associated with 74 percent higher risk of subsequent hip fracture (HR=1.74, 95% CI=1.23-2.46) in the model adjusted for gender, age, waist circumference, QUI and fall-related factors such as, handgrip strength, walking speed, Parkinson's disease and number of CNS active medication.

Smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity (Studies II-IV)

In Study II, smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity were significantly associated with hip fracture risk (Study II, Table 3). Current smoking of at least 20 cigarettes a day was especially harmful (RR=9.26, 95% CI=3.85-22.25). Alcohol consumption of at least 249 g of ethanol/week was associated with almost fivefold higher risk of hip fracture compared to those not using alcohol (RR=4.78, 95% CI=1.02-22.38). Those women who were moderately physically active had 36 percent lower risk of fracture (RR=0.64, 95% CI=0.42-0.97) compared to sedentary women. In Studies III and IV, none of the studied lifestyle factors were significant predictors of hip fracture (Study III, Table 3; Study IV, Table 3).

Handgrip strength and walking speed (Study IV)

Handgrip strength and maximal walking speed were examined for their prediction of hip fractures in Study IV. Both of these variables differed between subjects with and without an incident hip fracture (p values of <0.0001 for both). Also, in the gender- and age-adjusted models, a one SD increase in both handgrip strength (121.8 N) and maximal walking speed (0.40 m/s) was significantly associated with hip fracture risk (Study IV, Table 3). However, when further adjustments were made for height, waist circumference, QUI, Parkinson's disease, number of CNS active medications and each other, only maximal walking speed proved to be an independent and significant predictor of hip fracture. According to this model, one SD increase in walking speed (0.40 m/s) was associated with a 30 percent lower risk of hip fracture (HR=0.70, 95% CI=0.54-0.92).

Chronic conditions (Study IV)

Contribution of chronic conditions, such as Parkinson's disease, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes, to hip fracture risk was assessed in Study IV. Of these, only Parkinson's disease appeared to have an independent and significant association with hip fracture risk. Subjects with Parkinson's disease had a sevenfold risk of hip fracture compared to those free of this disease (HR=7.08, 95% CI=2.19-22.93) when adjusted for gender, age, height, waist circumference, QUI, handgrip strength, walking speed and number of CNS active medication.

CNS active medication and liability to fall (Study IV)

The number of prescribed CNS active medication (opioids, anticonvulsants, antipsychotics, anxiolytics, hypnotics and sedatives, antidepressants or psycholeptics and psychoanaleptics in combination) differed between subjects with and without an incident hip fracture (p=0.03) (Study IV, Table 2). According to the model that included gender and other significant predictors, such as age, height, waist circumference, QUI, handgrip strength, walking speed and Parkinson's disease, subjects using three or more CNS active medications had almost a threefold risk of hip fracture (HR=2.82, 95% CI=1.03-7.77) compared to those who did not use such medication.

There was a tendency towards increased risk of hip fracture along with increasing degree of faintness or dizziness as recent symptoms. Also, a higher number of falls during the previous 12 months tended to be associated with increased hip fracture risk. However, these associations did not reach statistical significance in gender- and age-adjusted models (Study IV, Table 3).

Parity (Study II)

Study II assessed parity for its prediction of hip fracture in postmenopausal women over a mean follow-up of 13 years. Adjusted for age, parity showed an inverse association with hip fracture risk (RR=0.74, 95% CI=0.61-0.90) per increment of one SD (2.4 births). This association appeared, however, to diverge

from linearity and thereby parity was classified into three categories: nulliparous, parous with 1-2 births and parous with three or more births. Adjusted for age, BMI, age at the last menstrual period, S-25(OH)D, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, education and self-rated health the risk of hip fracture were significantly lower in women with three or more births (RR=0.50, 95% CI=0.32-0.79) compared to nulliparous women. The risk tended to be lower also among women with one to two births compared to nulliparous women although the difference was not statistically significant (RR=0.85, 95% CI=0.55-1.32).

A statistically significant interaction was found between parity and age at the last menstrual period (p=0.03). Only those women with three or more births and who were more than 50 years of age at their last menstrual period had a significantly decreased risk for hip fracture compared to nulliparous women. The same did not hold true among women with three or more births who were 50 years or younger on that occasion (Study II, Table 4).

5.4 Multivariate prediction of hip fracture (Studies III and IV)

The predictive power of models with various combinations of risk factors was assessed by means of coefficients of determination (R^2). In Study III, R^2 indicated that age alone explained 66 percent of the variation in the observed hip fracture risk. When gender, height and weight were added to the model, R^2 increased to 72 percent. The addition of QUI improved this figure by four percentage units (a 6% relative increase) and the addition of S-25(OH)D by three percentage units (a 4% relative increase) (Study III, Table 4). The model, including all of these variables, explained 78 percent of the variation in hip fracture risk.

According to the results of separate analyses in Study III on subjects 75 years or over performed, absolute R^2 values were clearly lower compared to younger subjects. The model, including age, gender, height and weight explained 10 percent of the variation in the observed hip fracture risk. Adding QUI or S-25(OH)D to this model improved the coefficient of determination by seven percentage units (a 70% relative increase). The addition of both of these improved the predictive power of this model by 13 percentage units (130% relative increase).

In Study IV, including men and women aged 55 years or over, the model that included age, gender, height and waist circumference explained 59 percent of the variation in the observed hip fracture risk. This figure was improved by an increment of four percentage units (a 7% relative increase) when walking speed was added to the model. Adding QUI to the model improved its predictive power by 3 percentage units (a 5% relative increase). The model, including all of these variables added by Parkinson's disease and CNS active medication, explained

68% of the variation in hip fracture risk. Without QUI the predictive power of this model was 66% (Study IV, Table 4).

The additional analyses of net reclassification improvement (NRI) performed using a three percent risk threshold showed a significantly improved performance of the model, which included age, gender, height and waist circumference when either Parkinson's disease (NRI=3.3%, p=0.04), use of CNS active medication (NRI=6.0%, p=0.01) or QUI (NRI=6.4%, p=0.03) was added. No significant change was found in NRI when walking speed was separately added to that model (NRI=3.4%, p=0.15). However, walking speed along with Parkinson's disease and CNS active medication significantly improved the discriminative ability of the same model (NRI=8.4%, p=0.01). Further addition of QUI into that model including all other significant predictors resulted in no significant improvement (NRI=0.4%, p=0.84).

6 DISCUSSION

6.1 Determinants of QUS (Study I)

In this thesis bone strength was assessed by means of a calcaneal QUS measurement performed with the Hologic Sahara device (Hologic, Bedford, MA, USA). No previous study has identified determinants of calcaneal QUS in a representative Finnish adult population sample. Here, several risk factors of bone fragility previously found to be associated with BMD, assessed by means of DXA, were also found to be determinants of calcaneal QUS.

QUS values in men and women were inversely associated with age. This is in accordance with a number of previous studies that show a decreased level of BMD and QUS along with increasing age [272-277]. These changes appeared to be linear in men. In women, the slope was steeper after the age of about 50 years. This is not unexpected because the decline in ovarian function and the resultant decrease in estrogen levels are likely to affect bone strength in the postmenopausal phase [17,277-280]. This finding is also reflected in the negative association found between postmenopausal status and QUS variables.

Vitamin D status was a significant and independent determinant of SOS and BUA in both men and women. This finding is in accordance with previous studies that show the importance of adequate vitamin D status for bone health [281-283]. There is no consensus on what would be the optimal S-25(OH)D concentration. Based on S-25(OH)D concentrations at which measured PTH levels begin to level off [169,170], concentrations between 50 and 80 nmol/l have been considered sufficient for bone health [167,168]. In the present study, no specific threshold value was found. Instead, the associations with SOS and BUA appeared to be rather linear over the entire S-25(OH)D distribution.

We found an inverse association between fat mass and S-25(OH)D in spite of higher intakes of vitamin D in those with higher body fat mass (Study I, Figure 1). This agrees with previous case-control and population-based studies [284-287]. More recent studies have similarly found decreased S-25(OH)D levels in obese subjects [288,289]. These findings may be explained by a decreased bioavailability of vitamin D due to increased storage in the adipose tissue, sedentary lifestyle and genetic changes in vitamin D metabolism in obese subjects [286,289,290].

The positive association between weight and QUS variables was an expected finding in agreement with several previous studies that showed higher QUS or BMD values in heavier subjects [276,277,291,292]. The association between height and QUS values was found to be negative in the multiple linear regression model adjusted for age, weight, S-25(OH)D and lifestyle factors. This finding is contradictory to that of Welch et al. [277] who found a positive association

between height and BUA. The discrepant result in the present study might result from fairly slender bones in tall subjects. The studied lifestyle factors, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption appeared to be significant determinants of QUS variables with the exception of smoking and physical activity for BUA in women. Previous cross-sectional studies have found that physical activity is positively associated with QUS variables in both genders, whereas the associations between smoking or alcohol use and QUS have been less consistent [275,276,278,293-295]. Several previous studies have established a negative association between smoking and BMD [296-298]. The non-significant association between smoking and BUA in women probably resulted from the small number of smokers among them.

6.2 Risk factors of hip fracture (Studies II-IV)

Bone strength-related factors

Several prospective studies show that calcaneal QUS variables measured by means of various devices can predict hip fractures in elderly men and women [30,72,73,144,159-161]. Likewise, in the present study, QUS was a significant predictor of hip fracture even when adjusted for multiple potential predictors of hip fracture, such as S-25(OH)D, lifestyle factors, comorbidity and fall-related risk factors (III, IV). The hazard ratio of 1.67 per one SD decrease in QUI was comparable to a gradient of risk of 1.99 for the QUI reported in a recent metaanalysis [30]. However, there is a considerable heterogeneity existing among studies for the association of QUS variables and hip fracture risk, largely due to technological differences between the different devices [64]. Only one prospective study, thus far, has assessed different QUS devices for hip fracture prediction in an elderly population [264]. According to the results of that study, two calcaneal QUS devices (Achilles+ and Sahara) showed a similar hip fracture prediction in all assessed variables (BUA, SOS, QUI/SI). Obviously, more information is needed to guage the performance of different QUS devices concerning fracture risk prediction. In addition, methods for standardization or cross-calibration among brands of QUS devices should be developed.

The results presented here showed a higher risk of hip fracture in subjects with QUI values below 74.3 (III). This value was higher compared to the results of a previous study based on a large dataset from three case-control studies in which the threshold of QUI measured with Sahara device was at 63.2 [299]. The differences in these threshold values may be partly explained by differences in the age-range and designs of the studies. The study population of the present study (III) included both men and women aged 50 years or over while that of Hans et al. [299] included only women aged 65 years or over.

In a separate analysis of a subpopulation aged 75 years or older (IV), QUI did not quite reach statistical significance (HR=0.74, 95% CI=0.53-1.01) for an

association with hip fracture risk. Previous studies assessing BMD measured by means of DXA for prediction of fractures have similarly found smaller risk gradients along with an increasing age [56,300,301]. Here, an increasing divergence in cumulative hazards of hip fracture adjusted for gender, height and waist circumference was seen between the quintiles of QUI after the age of 75 years (Study IV, Figure 1 a). After further adjustment for fall-related factors, such as walking speed, Parkinson's disease, and CNS active medication the hazards diminished and became less divergent (Study IV, Figure 1 b). This is likely to indicate a gradual shift of focus in hip fracture prediction from bone strength to fall risk related factors in the oldest subjects.

In agreement with the results of several previous prospective studies [89-93], a higher weight was associated with a decreased risk for hip fracture in this study (III). Higher weight is associated with higher skeletal load, which is likely to increase bone strength. Also, higher fat mass and a longer waist circumference, a surrogate marker for abdominal fat [302], were associated with lower hip fracture risk (IV). Adipose tissue becomes a major source of estrogen in postmenopausal women [303]. Therefore, a higher amount of adipose tissue may be associated with a higher amount of estrogen which in turn, affects bone turnover. In addition, a thicker adipose tissue layer has a protective effect in case of a fall. On the other hand, low BMI, weight loss in particular, may be an indicator of overall poor health which contribute to fracture risk. However, the association between obesity and fracture risk is not unambiguous. It has been suggested that neuromuscular performance rather than body mass is an explanatory factor of bone strength [304]. Also, several studies have found that a substantial proportion of osteoporotic fractures, including hip fractures, occurs in obese postmenopausal women and older men [95]. Moreover, it has been suggested that obesity is a risk factor for some fractures, such as ankle and humeral fractures, but protective against some fractures, such as hip fracture [95].

In agreement with the results of several previous studies [19,23,92,96], tallness was a significant predictor of hip fracture in this study. Suggested mechanisms by which tallness affects hip fracture risk include a greater impact in falling as well as geometrical characteristics of the femoral neck that affects bone strength [23,97,98].

Previous studies have shown adverse effects of active smoking with respect to hip fracture risk [91,92,110,111]. In the present study heavy smoking (\geq 20 cigarettes/day) was significantly associated with increased risk of hip fracture among postmenopausal women aged 45 years or over (II). However, in Studies III and IV, including both men and women aged 50 years or over, smoking did not reach statistical significance. In these studies smoking was classified into categories of never-smokers, former smokers and current smokers and the impact of heavy smoking may have not been captured. On the other hand, the number of heavy smokers is likely to be low, especially among elderly women. Similarly to several previous studies [124,125] a lower risk of hip fracture was found along with increasing parity. Compared to nulliparous women the risk was significantly lower among women who had given three or more births (II). Among these women, the risk was lowest in women who were older than 50 years at their last menstrual period. These findings are likely to reflect the beneficial effects of long-term estrogen exposure on bone health and fracture risk [121].

Fall-related factors (IV)

Maximal walking speed was a significant and independent predictor of incident hip fracture in the present study (IV). This agrees with the results of previous prospective studies using elderly men and women cohorts [24,128,134,135]. Walking is a complex motor skill and the automaticity of which is likely to diminish along with increasing age [305]. Walking speed is, in older subjects, a useful indicator of muscle strength, balance and other sensorimotor functions [138,139], which will ultimately affect fall risk and subsequent risk of fracture. Here, maximal walking speed of around 1.5 m/s was optimal for hip fracture prediction. This is clearly higher than the threshold value of 1.0 m/s used in previous studies assessing walking speed for the prediction of several adverse health outcomes [147]. This difference may be at least partly explained by actually different outcomes in these studies. Nevertheless, the population of the current study was younger than those in previous studies. In addition, previous studies mostly assessed habitual walking speed, whereas the present study dealt with maximal walking speed.

Other significant fall-related risk factors in this study were Parkinson's disease and use of CNS active medication. These findings are in accordance with those of previous studies [23,85,128,149,150,154,155]. In the present study, over a sevenfold risk of hip fracture was found in subjects with Parkinson's disease compared to those free from this disease. However, the number of patients with Parkinson's disease was small (n=11) and the results should therefore be interpreted with caution.

Elderly subjects are prone to suffer from adverse effects of medication. This is related to physiological changes, which along with increasing age, affect absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of medicines. In addition, polypharmacy is more common in old age. Both, the total number and certain specific medications increases the risk of falls [151]. Here, subjects who used at least three prescribed CNS active medicines (such as opioids, anticonvulsants, anxiolytics, hypnotics, and sedatives, antidepressants and psycholeptics) had an increased risk of hip fracture compared to those who were not receiving such medication.

Multifactorial risk factors (II,III,IV)

An older age is a well-established risk factor for hip fracture. Old age is associated with decreased bone strength, but predicts hip fractures even independently of

BMD [6,9]. It appears that later in life factors associated with functional capacity gain more significance with respect to hip fracture prediction. In the present study, age was a significant and independent predictor of hip fracture even when adjusted for QUI and fall-related risk factors, such as walking speed, Parkinson's disease and CNS active medication (IV).

Elderly women are especially prone to hip fracture because they have generally lower peak bone mass and smaller bones compared to men, and because their estrogen deficiency causes a rapid lose of bone mass after menopause [17]. Here, women had over twice the risk of hip fracture compared to men when adjusted for age, body build, S-25(OH)D and QUI.

Similarly to some earlier prospective studies [173,174,179], S-25(OH)D was also in the present study an independent and significant predictor of hip fracture in men and women (II, III). According to the analysis of quintiles of S-25(OH)D values of less than 60.0 nmol/l indicated a significantly higher risk for hip fracture (HR=2.53, 95% CI=1.17-5.46) compared to values greater than or equal to 60.0 nmol/l (III). This is comparable to S-25(OH)D levels that range between 50 and 80 nmol/l, which were previously considered optimal for bone health [167,168]. On the other hand, S-25(OH)D did not quite reach statistical significance in the age- and gender-adjusted model (HR=0.85, 95% CI=0.70-1.03) in Study IV with somewhat longer follow-up period compared to Study III. Because S-25(OH)D was measured only at baseline, the changes in vitamin D status during the follow-up of Study IV were more likely than in Study III, which may diminish its association with fracture risk.

Previous studies have shown contradictory results on the association between vitamin D supplementation and fracture risk. Randomized controlled trials have often found no significant difference in BMD or hip fracture risk between subjects randomized to receive vitamin D supplementation and subjects in the control group [172,177]. On the other hand, observational studies have commonly shown significantly lower S-25(OH)D levels among subjects with hip fracture compared to controls [172]. Reasons for these contradictory results are not known. However, it is possible that the lack of a statistically significant association between vitamin D supplementation and fracture risk in RCTs has been related to insufficient statistical power because of too short follow-up times, inadequate number of recorded fractures, inappropriate vitamin doses or because the intervention has been targeted to a population that was not deficient in vitamin D [172,181]. On the other hand, it is likely that vitamin D supplementation would have been more efficient if combined with calcium [105,178,180]. Moreover, observational studies may suffer from uncontrolled confounding, such as physical activity with exposure to sunlight, comorbidity and frailty, which all mask an association [172].

Here (I), moderate hypovitaminosis or vitamin D deficiency (S-25(OH)D<37.5 nmol/l) was found in almost half of the study population aged 30 years or over studied during years 2000 and 2001. Comparable results have been found in a

more recent study that assessed vitamin D status in Finnish subjects aged 45 to 74 years in 2007 [306]. In order to ensure an adequate vitamin D status in the Finnish population, the recommended level of vitamin D intake has been recently raised in the updated Finnish Nutrition Recommendation [307] up to 10 µg (400 IU) per day for adults and children aged two years or older and 20 µg (800 IU) per day for subjects aged 75 years or older. There is an ongoing debate on what would be an optimal S-25(OH)D level with respect to skeletal and extra-skeletal health, and disagreement persists regarding the recommendations of vitamin D intake. For example, the US IOM (Institute of Medicine) recommends vitamin D doses of 20 µg (800 IU) in older adults (>70 years) in order to achieve S-25(OH)D levels of 50 nmol/l [308]. On the other hand, the US Endocrine society proposes daily doses of at least 38 to 50 µg (1500-2000 IU) in the same age group in order to achieve a target level of 75 nmol/l, and even higher intakes in some cases of vitamin D deficiency [309]. However, high doses of vitamin D may not be beneficial with respect to bone health and fall risk, and may even have adverse effects on bone health [181,310,311]. Adverse effects have been found to occur especially along with extremely high intermittently administered doses. Based on the results of these and other previous RCTs and observational studies [312], it may not be advisable to recommend high S-25(OH)D concentrations for the entire population. Rather, it is essential to identify subjects who are most likely to be vitamin D deficient (e.g., elderly subjects, institutionalized or homebound and subjects with malabsorption) and target the interventions of vitamin D supplementation, accordingly. In these cases, monitoring of serum 25(OH)D may be required.

An additional challenge with respect to determination and monitoring an optimal S-25(OH)D level is brought by the fact that results of S-25(OH)D measurements performed with different assays in different laboratories are not comparable [313-315]. Previous studies show that the capability of different assays to discriminate between low, moderate and high values is relatively good [314]. However, the definition of vitamin D status in absolute terms may be more complicated without standardization and careful cross-calibration between the values from different laboratories. This should be taken into account when comparing the results of different studies from different laboratories.

Previous studies have shown an inverse association between physical activity and hip fracture risk in men and women [92,111,192-195]. In the present study, a tendency towards higher risk was observed in sedentary subjects (II, III, IV). However, in the models adjusted for age and gender, physical activity did not quite reach statistical significance.

Previous fragility fracture is a significant predictor of future hip fracture [22,128,159,160,242,243]. Here, previous hip fracture did not show a significant contribution to hip fracture risk among men and women aged 50 years or older (III). This is likely to be related to the lack of statistical power since the proportion of subjects with previous fragility fracture was low (0.8%).

Socio-economic status has been suggested to contribute to hip fracture risk, even independently of known risk factors of osteoporosis [222,316,317]. In the present study (II), socio-economic status assessed by means of the level of education was not independently associated with hip fracture risk. This may partly be related to low number of those with high education (>12 years of education), but also to that other, more proximal risk factors of hip fracture, such as lifestyle may have explained the association [318].

6.3 Multivariate prediction of hip fracture (Studies III and IV)

A large number of risk factors for hip fracture have been identified, and the current challenge is to develop practical methods that could accurately identify subjects who are at an increased risk. Old age is a well-known powerful predictor of hip fracture. Identifying factors that significantly contribute to fracture risk along and beyond age is important. Here, age explained up to 66 percent of the variation in the fracture risk (III). The additions of QUI and S-25(OH)D or QUI and the fallrelated risk factors (maximal walking speed, Parkinson's disease and number of prescribed CNS active medicines) clearly increased the predictive power of the model, which included age, gender and measures of body build (III, IV). This agrees with the results of previous prospective studies that show that combining bone strength-related factors with fall-related factors improves the prediction of hip fracture [24,144,159,160]. In the present study, improvements in the predictive power of the model that included age, gender, height and waist circumference were similar after the addition of QUI, walking speed, Parkinson's disease or CNS active medication. On the other hand, when QUI was added to the model that included age, gender, height, waist circumference and the fall-related factors only minor further improvement in the predictive power was seen. No significant improvement in discriminative ability (NRI) of the model was seen after this addition (IV). This finding suggests that a simple model including age, gender and measures of body built combined with the fall-related factors is at least as efficient in hip fracture prediction as a more complex model with measured bone strength-related factors. This parallels previous views that being prone to fall rather than bone fragility would be the principal determinant of fracture [248,319].

Recently, guidelines by WHO and IOF [25] have proposed a targeted approach in which assessment of future fracture risk would be based on 10-year probability of fracture. Based on this, fracture risk prediction tools, such as FRAX, QFracture and Garvan Fracture Risk Calculator have been developed [26,245,246]. FRAX has been recommended to be used for the assessment of fracture risk in clinical practice in many countries, including Finland [320]. However, information about the applicability of FRAX in the general Finnish population is lacking. In addition, no information is available about the threshold value of FRAX on which the treatment would become cost-effective in Finland. One recent study assessed the calibration of the Finnish FRAX model in the OSTPRE (the Kuopio Osteoporosis Risk Factor and Prevention) study, a population-based cohort study of postmenopausal women from the Kuopio region of Finland [321]. In that study, the relationship between the FRAX probability of hip fracture and the 10-year period prevalence was examined by quintiles of fracture probability. The goodness-of-fit across these quintiles and predictive performance of FRAX model were evaluated. The authors of that study concluded that the Finnish FRAX tool provided appropriate discrimination for hip fracture risk. However, there was a lack of fit for absolute probabilities. The expected numbers of hip fractures based on FRAX models were significantly higher than self-reported (observed/expected ratio 0.46; 95% CI 0.33-0.63) and tended to be larger than observed ones (observed/expected ratio 0.83; 95% CI 0.65-1.04). The difference was evident especially in the highest risk quintile.

In the present study we performed analyses using the variables that were available to us to construct a model corresponding to the FRAX model as closely as possible. These variables included: gender, age, weight, height, current smoking, current use of systemic glucocorticoids, rheumatoid arthritis, insulindependent diabetes, Crohn's disease, colitis ulcerosa, and celiac disease, liver disease assessed by means of gamma-glutamyl transferase measurement, premature (<45 years) menopause in women and alcohol use of three or more units daily. No significant associations were observed between these variables and hip fracture risk in age- and gender-adjusted analyses (data not shown). This was not an unexpected finding because our study population was derived from a nationally representative population sample in which diseases associated with an increased risk of osteoporosis are rare compared with selected clinical study populations.

One of the known limitations of the FRAX tool is that it does not include falls as a risk factor [249]. The incorporation of fall risk to FRAX model has been argued to be problematic because information on falls has been scarce in cohorts used to derive and validate FRAX. However, there is evidence that falls [322,323] and fall-related fractures [324] can be prevented by interventions. This supports the idea of including fall-related risk factors in the fracture risk assessment, suggested by some authors [325].

In the present study the models for hip fracture risk prediction were derived from the representative population sample of Finnish men and women with a follow-up period extending up to 10 years. The predictive performance (\mathbb{R}^2) of the models based on a few readily available risk factors, such as age, gender, measures of body build, bone strength-related factors and fall-related factors, was closely comparable with those reported from a previous prospective study based on the QFracture data covering a wide variety of predictors [245,326]. In the present study, the models including all significant predictors derived from the study data explained 68 to 78 percent of the variation in the hip fracture risk. The validation study of the QFracture tool, using the same statistical method has reported R^2 values around 70 percent. Applied to the same data, the FRAX algorithm explained approximately 55 percent of the variation in the hip fracture risk [245]. Obviously, such studies cannot be directly compared. However, the results of the present study suggests that a simple model including readily available variables may perform equally well in fracture risk prediction compared to more complex models.

6.4 Strengths and limitations

The strength of the present study is that it was based on two nationally representative health surveys with an exceptionally high participating rate [260,261]. In the Health 2000 Survey, the essential information on health and functional capacity was obtained from more than 93 percent of the subjects, and 79 percent of the original sample participated in the health examination proper. In the Mini-Finland Survey, 96 percent of the sample participated in the health interview, and 90 percent in the health examination. The information about incident hip fractures was drawn from the National Hospital Discharge register, which is a reliable source of information with a nationwide coverage. The coverage of this register with respect to hip fractures is reported to be 98 percent. Also, the accuracy and sensitivity of the registered hip fracture diagnoses have been shown to be good (98%) [82].

One limitation of the current study was that the risk factors in Studies II, III and IV were measured only at baseline, and no information on the later changes of these factors was available. During a follow-up period extending up to 13 years changes are plausible in lifestyles, physical performance, health status and medication (II). Moreover, subjects living in residential care units were not included in our study population because QUS measurements were not included in home health examination conducted on subjects not attending the health examination proper (5% of the original sample). However, this is likely to diminish rather than give rise to the observed associations.

In Study II, parity was assessed for its prediction of hip fracture in postmenopausal women. In this context, it would have been useful to assess the role of lifetime estrogen exposure. However, no such information was at our disposal. Neither were we able to assess whether the association between parity and fracture risk was mediated by potential effects of parity on BMD. Moreover, we did not know whether nulliparity was intentional or due to a fertility problem.

The predictive performance of the simple model constructed in the present study appeared to be fairly good. However, its performance may have been maximized because it was constructed and tested on the same data. In order to test the predictive power of the model, it should be evaluated in a separate adult population. A major limitation of the present study was the small number of hip fracture cases. Thus, in the analyses concerning rare risk factors statistical power was obviously low. For the same reason the analyses could not be made separately on men and women.

7 CONCLUSIONS

Older age, tallness, smoking and postmenopausal status in women were negatively associated with the QUS variables (SOS, BUA) whereas higher weight, higher concentration of S-25(OH)D and physical activity as well as years on HRT in postmenopausal women showed positive association with these variables. A lower level of alcohol consumption was associated with lower QUS values in women and with higher values of QUS in men.

Age, height, weight, waist circumference, QUI, S-25(OH)D and fall-related risk factors, such as maximal walking speed, Parkinson's disease and the number of prescribed CNS active medicines were independent predictors of hip fracture. In addition, nulliparity was significantly associated with hip fracture risk among postmenopausal women. Among subjects aged 75 years or over age, maximal walking speed and the use of three or more prescribed CNS active medicines were independent predictors of hip fracture.

Old age was the strongest predictor of the hip fracture explaining up to 66 percent of the variation in hip fracture risk. The additions of QUI, S-25(OH)D and the fall-related factors (maximal walking speed, Parkinson's disease and number of prescribed CNS active medicines) increased the predictive power of the model including age, gender and measures of body built. On the other hand, when QUI was added to the model, which included age, gender, height, waist circumference and the fall-related factors, only a minor further improvement in predictive performance was noticed.

The incremental value of QUI in the prediction of hip fracture risk was small. Moreover, because there are no established diagnostic threshold values for QUS, it cannot be used as a diagnostic method for osteoporosis. In addition, the issues concerning standardization and cross-calibration among different QUS devices are yet to be resolved. Therefore, calcaneal QUS examination cannot be recommended for the assessment of hip fracture risk in an unselected adult population.

The assessment of fall-related risk factors for hip fracture prediction appears to be essential in elderly subjects, in particular among those aged 75 years or over. The liability to fall can be assessed by the measurement of maximal walking speed and evaluations of the central nervous system for chronic diseases and medications affecting mobility and postural balance. The results of the present study suggest that a maximal walking speed of around 1.5 m/s would be optimal for hip fracture prediction. This threshold differs clearly from 1.0 m/s that has been used in previous studies as a threshold of habitual walking speed for the prediction of adverse health outcomes. However, further studies in larger elderly study populations are needed in order to determine the threshold value of maximal walking speed for identifying subjects at increased risk of hip fracture.

Lower level of S-25(OH)D was associated with a higher hip fracture risk. The optimal level of S-25(OH)D appeared to be equal to or greater than 60.0 nmol/l. However, the role of vitamin D status in hip fracture risk prediction appeared to be modest. Measurements of vitamin D thus can not be recommended for the assessment of hip fracture risk in unselected adult populations.

This study presents a simple multifactorial model for the assessment of hip fracture risk among Finnish adults aged 50 years or over. Prospective studies are needed to test this model in patient-based study populations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was started at the Department of Health and Functional Capacity, National Public Health Institute in 2006, and was finished at the Department of Health, National Institute for Health and Welfare in 2015.

I express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Research professor Antti Jula for providing me with the facilities for doing research at the National Institute for Health and Welfare. During the dissertation process he has offered me invaluable help and support that enabled me to accomplish this thesis.

I have had a privilege to have Adjunct professor Olli Impivaara as my other supervisor. I really admire his vast knowledge in the field of osteoporosis and his wisdom for life in general. His guidance during the process and persistence in reviewing manuscripts have been irreplaceable.

The official reviewers of this thesis, Professor Ari Heinonen and Adjunct professor Antti Malmivaara, deserve a special acknowledgement for their constructive criticism, which has helped to improve my thesis. Professor Kaisu Pitkälä is warmly acknowledged for agreeing to be my opponent in the public defence of this thesis.

The coauthors of the original articles, Adjunct professor Jukka Marniemi, Jukka Montonen, PhD, Professor Paul Knekt, Adjunct professor Markku Heliövaara, Professor Sari Stenholm and Juhani Mäki, BSc deserve my sincerest thanks for contributing to the work. Special thanks go to Adjunct professor Markku Heliövaara for his constructive criticism on original articles, inspiring ideas and stimulating conversations concerning epidemiological issues. Professor Sari Stenholm deserves my deepest gratitude for the support in scientific work but also for her friendliness during these years. She has always been ready to help me and has encouraged me to reach for my goals. I am truly grateful for Juhani Mäki, BSc for offering his expertise and invaluable advice concerning statistical methods. I warmly thank for his friendliness as well as for his patience towards multiple "stupid questions."

I express my sincere gratitude to the personnel and participants of the Health 2000 Survey and the Mini-Finland Health Survey. I am very grateful to have had the opportunity to use such unique databases gathered in Finland as a basis of my work. In addition, I want extend my thanks to all whom have worked at the Population Studies Unit (former Laboratory for Population Studies) for everyday help, nice discussions over lunch and coffee breaks, and for creating a friendly atmosphere in which to work. Special thanks go to Ms. Arja Kylliäinen for helping me to finish tables and figures of the original articles and for Ms. Elina Kantola for assisting in technical issues, among other things. Also Ms. Eija Viholainen and Ms. Taina Alikoivisto are thanked for their help in practical daily issues. Language editing of the thesis was kindly performed by Robert M. Badeau, PhD, from Aura

Professional English Consulting, Ltd. I warmly thank him for his prompt and excellent work.

I warmly thank all people with whom I have had an opportunity to work outside of the dissertation project, Adjunct professor Jarna Hannukainen from Turku PET Centre, and Professor Marja Jylhä and the staff from the Gerontology Research Center of University of Tampere. It has been a great pleasure to get to know you. Working with you has helped me to develop as a researcher.

My warmest gratitude I extend to the Juho Vainio Foundation, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Orion-Farmos Research Foundation and University of Turku for providing me with financial support by personal grants.

I express my warm thanks to my relatives and friends. I enjoy your company, and I hope we will have more occasions to spend time together from now on.

I express my deepest gratitude and love to my mother, Marja-Leena, for her unconditional love, support and strong belief in me during all my life, and for my late father Martti, for his support and for having evoked my interest in science. I warmly thank also my brother, Jukka and his family for kindness and readiness to help me in diverse "projects".

Finally, I devote my deepest gratitude and affection to my own family, to my husband Jari and our precious children Valtteri, Verneri and Venla. Jari, your support and help in everyday life have been essential for finishing this thesis. Valtteri, Verneri and Venla, you are the brightest lights of my life. No words can ever express how much I love all of you. You keep on reminding me what really is important in life.
REFERENCES

1. Abrahamsen B, van Staa T, Ariely R, Olson M, Cooper C (2009) Excess mortality following hip fracture: a systematic epidemiological review. Osteoporos Int 20 (10):1633-1650.

2. Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Sernbo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Petterson C, De Laet C, Jonsson B (2004) Mortality after osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 15 (1):38-42.

3. Nurmi I, Narinen A, Lüthje P, Tanninen S (2003) Cost analysis of hip fracture treatment among the elderly for the public health services: a 1-year prospective study in 106 consecutive patients. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 123 (10):551-554.

4. Sund R, Juntunen M, Lüthje P, Huusko T, Mäkelä

M, Linna M, Liski A, Häkkinen U (2008) PERFECT
Lonkkamurtuma. Hoitoketjujen toimivuus ja kustannukset lonkkamurtumapotilailla (PERFECT hip fracture). STAKES, Helsinki.

5. Sund R, Juntunen M, Lüthje P, Huusko T, Häkkinen U (2011) Monitoring the performance of hip fracture treatment in Finland. Ann Med 43 Suppl 1:S39-46.

6. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Dawson A, De Laet C, Jonsson B (2001) Ten year probabilities of osteoporotic fractures according to BMD and diagnostic thresholds. Osteoporos Int 12 (12):989-995.

7. Moayyeri A, Soltani A, Larijani B, Naghavi M, Alaeddini F, Abolhassani F (2006) Epidemiology of hip fracture in Iran: results from the Iranian Multicenter Study on Accidental Injuries. Osteoporos Int 17 (8):1252-1257.

8. Kanis JA, Oden A, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, Wahl DA, Cooper C (2012) A systematic review of hip fracture incidence and probability of fracture worldwide. Osteoporos Int 23 (9):2239-2256.

9. Working group appointed by the Finnish Medical Society Duodecim and the Finnish Orthopaedic Association (2011) Hip fracture (online). Current Care Guidelines. The Finnish Medical Society Duodecim. available online at: www.kaypahoito.fi. Accessed 27.8.2014. 10. Korhonen N, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Sievänen H, Palvanen M, Kannus P (2013) Continuous decline in incidence of hip fracture: nationwide statistics from Finland between 1970 and 2010. Osteoporos Int 24 (5):1599-1603.

11. Ballane G, Cauley JA, Luckey MM, Fuleihan Gel H (2014) Secular trends in hip fractures worldwide: opposing trends East versus west. J Bone Miner Res 29 (8):1745-1755.

12. Cooper C, Cole ZA, Holroyd CR, Earl SC, Harvey NC, Dennison EM, Melton LJ, Cummings SR, Kanis JA (2011) Secular trends in the incidence of hip and other osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 22 (5):1277-1288.

13. Piscitelli P, Feola M, Rao C, Celi M, Gasbarra E, Neglia C, Quarta G, Liuni FM, Parri S, Iolascon G, Brandi ML, Distante A, Tarantino U (2014) Ten years of hip fractures in Italy: For the first time a decreasing trend in elderly women. World J Orthop 5 (3):386-391.

14. Ahlborg HG, Rosengren BE, Järvinen TL, Rogmark C, Nilsson JA, Sernbo I, Karlsson MK (2010) Prevalence of osteoporosis and incidence of hip fracture in women--secular trends over 30 years. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 11:48.

15. Marks R (2010) Hip fracture epidemiological trends, outcomes, and risk factors, 1970-2009. Int J Gen Med 3:1-17.

16. Espallargues M, Sampietro-Colom L, Estrada MD, Sola M, del Rio L, Setoain J, Granados A (2001) Identifying bone-mass-related risk factors for fracture to guide bone densitometry measurements: a systematic review of the literature. Osteoporos Int 12 (10):811-822.

17. Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd (2002) Sex steroids and the construction and conservation of the adult skeleton. Endocr Rev 23 (3):279-302.

18. Kanis JA (2007) on behalf of the World Health Organization Scientific Group. Assessment of osteoporosis at the primary health-care level. Technical Report. World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Metabolic Bone Diseases, University of Sheffield, UK.

19. Allolio B (1999) Risk factors for hip fracture not related to bone mass and their therapeutic implications. Osteoporos Int 9 Suppl 2:S9-S16.

20. Rubenstein LZ (2006) Falls in older people: epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention. Age Ageing 35 Suppl 2:ii37-ii41.

21. Cummings-Vaughn LA, Gammack JK (2011) Falls, osteoporosis, and hip fractures. Med Clin North Am 95 (3):495-506.

22. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS, Stone K, Fox KM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JC, Black D, Vogt TM (1995) Risk-Factors for Hip Fracture in White Women. N Engl J Med 332 (12):767-773.

23. Cumming RG, Nevitt MC, Cummings SR (1997) Epidemiology of hip fractures. Epidemiol Rev 19 (2):244-257.

24. Dargent-Molina P, Favier F, Grandjean H, Baudoin C, Schott AM, Hausherr E, Meunier PJ, Breart G (1996) Fall-related factors and risk of hip fracture: The EPIDOS prospective study. Lancet 348 (9021):145-149.

25. Kanis JA, Black D, Cooper C, Dargent P, Dawson-Hughes B, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman J, Johnell O, Jonsson B, Melton L, Oden A, Papapoulos S, Pols H, Rizzoli R, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2002) A new approach to the development of assessment guidelines for osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 13 (7):527-536.

26. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, McCloskey E (2008) FRAX and the assessment of fracture probability in men and women from the UK. Osteoporos Int 19 (4):385-397.

27. Hans D, Dargent-Molina P, Schott AM, Sebert JL, Cormier C, Kotzki PO, Delmas PD, Pouilles JM, Breart G, Meunier PJ (1996) Ultrasonographic heel measurements to predict hip fracture in elderly women: the EPIDOS prospective study. Lancet 348 (9026):511-514.

28. Bauer DC, Glüer CC, Cauley JA, Vogt TM, Ensrud KE, Genant HK, Black DM (1997) Broadband ultrasound attenuation predicts fractures strongly and independently of densitometry in older women - A prospective study. Arch Intern Med 157 (6):629-634. 29. Bauer DC, Ewing SK, Cauley JA, Ensrud KE, Cummings SR, Orwoll ES (2007) Quantitative ultrasound predicts hip and non-spine fracture in men: the MrOS study. Osteoporos Int.

30. Moayyeri A, Adams JE, Adler RA, Krieg MA, Hans D, Compston J, Lewiecki EM (2012) Quantitative ultrasound of the heel and fracture risk assessment: an updated meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 23 (1):143-153.

31. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG (2010) Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg 8 (5):336-341.

32. Clarke B (2008) Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 3 Suppl 3:S131-139.

33. Seeman E (2008) Bone quality: the material and structural basis of bone strength. J Bone Miner Metab 26 (1):1-8.

34. Cummings SR (2002) Bone biology, epidemiology and general principles. In: Cummings SR, Cosman F, Jamal SA (eds) Osteoporosis. An evidence-based guide to prevention and management. American College of Physicians, Philadelphia, pp 3-25.

35. Neve A, Corrado A, Cantatore FP (2012) Osteocytes: central conductors of bone biology in normal and pathological conditions. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 204 (3):317-330.

36. Seeman E, Delmas PD (2006) Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med 354 (21):2250-2261.

37. Shabestari M, Eriksen EF (2013) Mechanisms of bone remodeling. In: Stovall DW (ed) Osteoporosis. Diagnosis and management. WILEY Blackwell, Singapore, pp 31-45.

 Bartl R, Frisch B (2009) Osteoporosis. Diagnosis, prevention, therapy. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg.

39. Seeman E (2002) Pathogenesis of bone fragility in women and men. Lancet 359 (9320):1841-1850.

40. Morgan EF, Bouxsein ML (2008) Biomechanics of bone and age-related fractures. In: Bilezikian JF, Raisz LG, Martin TJ (eds) Principles of bone biology.3 edn. Elsevier Science and Technology, pp 29-51.

41. Riggs BL, Melton LJ, 3rd (1992) The prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 327 (9):620-627.

42. World Health Organisation (1994) Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Technical report series 843. WHO, Geneva.

43. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. (2000). NIH Consens Statement 17 (1):1-45.

44. Kanis JA (2002) Diagnosis of osteoporosis and assessment of fracture risk. Lancet 359 (9321):1929-1936.

45. Riggs BL, Melton LJ, 3rd (1986) Involutional osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 314 (26):1676-1686.

 Ebeling PR (2013) Secondary causes of osteoporosis: Bone diseases. In: Stovall DW (ed) Osteoporosis. Diagnosis and management. WILEY Blackwell, Singapore, pp 62-78.

47. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy (2001). JAMA 285 (6):785-795.

48. Felsenberg D, Boonen S (2005) The bone quality framework: determinants of bone strength and their interrelationships, and implications for osteoporosis management. Clin Ther 27 (1):1-11.

49. Blake GM, Fogelman I (1997) Technical principles of dual energy x-ray absorptiometry. Semin Nucl Med 27 (3):210-228.

50. Njeh CF, Fuerst T, Hans D, Blake GM, Genant HK (1999) Radiation exposure in bone mineral density assessment. Appl Radiat Isot 50 (1):215-236. 51. Edmondston SJ, Singer KP, Price RI, Breidahl PD

(1993) Accuracy of lateral dual energy X-ray absorptiometry for the determination of bone mineral content in the thoracic and lumbar spine: an in vitro study. Br J Radiol 66 (784):309-313.

52. Lilley J, Walters BG, Heath DA, Drolc Z (1991) In vivo and in vitro precision for bone density measured by dual-energy X-ray absorption. Osteoporos Int 1 (3):141-146.

53. Sievänen H, Oja P, Vuori I (1992) Precision of dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry in determining bone mineral density and content of various skeletal sites. J Nucl Med 33 (6):1137-1142.

54. Lewis MK, Blake GM, Fogelman I (1994) Patient dose in dual x-ray absorptiometry. Osteoporos Int 4 (1):11-15.

55. Marshall D, Johnell O, Wedel H (1996) Metaanalysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures. BMJ 312 (7041):1254-1259.

56. Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kröger H, Mellstrom D, Meunier PJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, O'Neill T, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2005) Predictive value of BMD for hip and other fractures. J Bone Miner Res 20 (7):1185-1194. 57. Wainwright SA, Marshall LM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Black DM, Hillier TA, Hochberg MC, Vogt MT, Orwoll ES (2005) Hip fracture in women without osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90 (5):2787-2793.

58. Sanders KM, Nicholson GC, Watts JJ, Pasco JA, Henry MJ, Kotowicz MA, Seeman E (2006) Half the burden of fragility fractures in the community occur in women without osteoporosis. When is fracture prevention cost-effective? Bone 38 (5):694-700.

59. Hans D, Fuerst T, Duboeuf F (1997) Quantitative ultrasound bone measurement. Eur Radiol 7 Suppl 2:S43-50.

60. Glüer CC, Barkmann R (2003) Quantitative ultrasound: use in the detection of fractures and in the assessment of bone composition. Curr Osteoporos Rep 1 (3):98-104.

61. Njeh CF (1999) Calcaneal quantitative ultrasound devices: water-coupled. In: Njeh CF, Hans D, Glüer C-C, Genant HK (eds) Quantitative ultrasound. Assessment of osteoporosis and bone status. Martin Dunitz, London, pp 109-124

62. Cheng S, Hans D, Genant HK (1999) Calcaneal quantitative ultrasound systems: gel-coupled. In: Njeh CF, Hans D, Glüer C-C, Genant HK (eds) Quantitative ultrasound. Assessment of osteoporosis and bone status. Martin Dunitz, London, pp 125-144.
63. Prins SH, Jørgensen HL, Jørgensen LV, Hassager C (1998) The role of quantitative ultrasound in the assessment of bone: a review. Clin Physiol 18 (1):3-17.

64. Njeh CF, Hans D, Li J, Fan B, Fuerst T, He YQ, Tsuda-Futami E, Lu Y, Wu CY, Genant HK (2000) Comparison of six calcaneal quantitative ultrasound devices: Precision and hip fracture discrimination. Osteoporos Int 11 (12):1051-1062.

65. He YQ, Fan B, Hans D, Li J, Wu CY, Njeh CF, Zhao S, Lu Y, Tsuda-Futami E, Fuerst T, Genant HK (2000) Assessment of a new quantitative ultrasound calcaneus measurement: Precision and discrimination of hip fractures in elderly women compared with dual X-ray absorptiometry. Osteoporos Int 11 (4):354-360. 66. Haara MM, Arokoski JP, Kröger H, Kärkkäinen A, Manninen P, Knekt P, Impivaara O, Heliövaara M (2005) Association of radiological hand osteoarthritis with bone mineral mass: a population study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 44 (12):1549-1554. 67. Nayak S, Olkin I, Liu H, Grabe M, Gould MK, Allen IE, Owens DK, Bravata DM (2006) Metaanalysis: accuracy of quantitative ultrasound for identifying patients with osteoporosis. Ann Intern Med 144 (11):832-841.

68. Njeh CF, Fuerst T, Diessel E, Genant HK (2001) Is quantitative ultrasound dependent on bone structure? A reflection. Osteoporos Int 12 (1):1-15.

69. Guglielmi G, Adams J, Link TM (2009) Quantitative ultrasound in the assessment of skeletal status. Eur Radiol 19 (8):1837-1848.

70. Frost ML, Blake GM, Fogelman I (2002) A comparison of fracture discrimination using calcaneal quantitative ultrasound and dual X-ray absorptiometry in women with a history of fracture at sites other than the spine and hip. Calcif Tissue Int 71 (3):207-211.

71. Frost ML, Blake GM, Fogelman I (2001) Does the combination of quantitative ultrasound and dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry improve fracture discrimination? Osteoporos Int 12 (6):471-477.

72. Pluijm SMF, Graafmans WC, Bouter LM, Lips P (1999) Ultrasound measurements for the prediction of osteoporotic fractures in elderly people. Osteoporos Int 9 (6):550-556.

73. Khaw KT, Reeve J, Luben R, Bingham S, Welch A, Wareham N, Oakes S, Day N (2004) Prediction of total and hip fracture risk in men and women by quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus: EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. Lancet 363 (9404):197-202.

74. Guglielmi G, Schneider P, Lang TF, Giannatempo GM, Cammisa M, Genant HK (1997) Quantitative computed tomography at the axial and peripheral skeleton. Eur Radiol 7 Suppl 2:S32-42.

75. Link TM (2012) Osteoporosis imaging: state of the art and advanced imaging. Radiology 263 (1):3-17.

76. Baum T, Karampinos DC, Liebl H, Rummeny EJ, Waldt S, Bauer JS (2013) High-resolution bone imaging for osteoporosis diagnostics and therapy monitoring using clinical MDCT and MRI. Curr Med Chem 20 (38):4844-4852.

77. Adams JE (2009) Quantitative computed tomography. Eur J Radiol 71 (3):415-424.

Parker M, Johansen A (2006) Hip fracture. BMJ
 333 (7557):27-30.

79. The WHO International Classification of Diseases (ICD). http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/.Accessed 30.7. 2014

80. The WHO (1995) Tautiluokitus ICD-10 (International Classification of Diseases ICD-10). Kirjapaino Oy West Point, Rauma.

81. Sund R, Nurmi-Lüthje I, Lüthje P, Tanninen S, Narinen A, Keskimäki I (2007) Comparing properties of audit data and routinely collected register data in case of performance assessment of hip fracture treatment in Finland. Methods Inf Med 46 (5):558-566.

82. Sund R (2012) Quality of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register: A systematic review. Scand J Public Health:16.

83. Silva MJ (2007) Biomechanics of osteoporotic fractures. Injury 38 Suppl 3:S69-76.

84. Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L (2009) Hypertension is a risk factor for fractures. Calcif Tissue Int 84 (2):103-111.

85. Oderda LH, Young JR, Asche CV, Pepper GA (2012) Psychotropic-related hip fractures: metaanalysis of first-generation and second-generation antidepressant and antipsychotic drugs. Ann Pharmacother 46 (7-8):917-928.

86. Lai SW, Liao KF, Liao CC, Muo CH, Liu CS, Sung FC (2010) Polypharmacy correlates with increased risk for hip fracture in the elderly: a population-based study. Medicine (Baltimore) 89 (5):295-299.

87. Mussolino ME, Looker AC, Madans JH, Langlois JA, Orwoll ES (1998) Risk factors for hip fracture in white men: The NHANES I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. J Bone Miner Res 13 (6):918-924.

88. Langlois JA, Mussolino ME, Visser M, Looker AC, Harris T, Madans J (2001) Weight loss from maximum body weight among middle-aged and older white women and the risk of hip fracture: The NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Osteoporos Int 12 (9):763-768.

89. Margolis KL, Ensrud KE, Schreiner PJ, Tabor HK (2000) Body size and risk for clinical fractures in older women. Ann Intern Med 133 (2):123-127.

90. De Laet C, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johanson H, Johnell O, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Kröger H, Fujiwara S, Garnero P, McCloskey EV, Mellstrom D, Melton LJ, Meunier PJ, Pols HAP, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2005) Body mass index as a predictor of fracture risk: A meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 16 (11):1330-1338.

91. Holmberg AH, Johnell O, Nilsson PM, Nilsson JA, Berglund G, Akesson K (2005) Risk factors for hip fractures in a middle-aged population: a study of 33,000 men and women. Osteoporos Int 16 (12):2185-2194.

92. Trimpou P, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Oden A, Rosengren A, Wilhelmsen L (2010) Male risk factors for hip fracture-a 30-year follow-up study in 7,495 men. Osteoporos Int 21 (3):409-416.

93. Ensrud KE, Lipschutz RC, Cauley JA, Seeley D, Nevitt MC, Scott J, Orwoll ES, Genant HK, Cummings SR (1997) Body size and hip fracture risk in older women: A prospective study. Am J Med 103 (4):274-280.

94. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, McCloskey EV (2009) Assessment of fracture risk. Eur J Radiol 71 (3):392-397.

95. Compston J (2013) Obesity and bone. Curr Osteoporos Rep 11 (1):30-35.

96. Farahmand BY, Michaëlsson K, Baron JA, Persson PG, Ljunghall S (2000) Body size and hip fracture risk. Epidemiology 11 (2):214-219.

97. Faulkner KG, Cummings SR, Black D, Palermo L, Glüer CC, Genant HK (1993) Simple measurement of femoral geometry predicts hip fracture: the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 8 (10):1211-1217.

98. Hamdy RC (2013) Fracture risk assessment. In: Stovall DW (ed) Osteoporosis. Diagnosis and management. WILEY Blackwell, Singapore, pp 46-61.

99. Flynn A (2003) The role of dietary calcium in bone health. Proc Nutr Soc 62 (4):851-858.

100. Matkovic V, Goel PK, Badenhop-Stevens NE, Landoll JD, Li B, Ilich JZ, Skugor M, Nagode LA, Mobley SL, Ha EJ, Hangartner TN, Clairmont A (2005) Calcium supplementation and bone mineral density in females from childhood to young adulthood: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 81 (1):175-188.

101. Welten DC, Kemper HC, Post GB, van Staveren WA (1995) A meta-analysis of the effect of calcium intake on bone mass in young and middle aged females and males. J Nutr 125 (11):2802-2813.

102. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, Burckhardt P, Li R, Spiegelman D, Specker B, Orav JE, Wong JB, Staehelin HB, O'Reilly E, Kiel DP, Willett WC (2007) Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 86 (6):1780-1790.

103. Shea B, Wells G, Cranney A, Zytaruk N, Robinson V, Griffith L, Hamel C, Ortiz Z, Peterson J, Adachi J, Tugwell P, Guyatt G (2004) Calcium supplementation on bone loss in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD004526. 104. Reid IR, Bolland MJ (2014) Calcium risk-benefit updated--new WHI analyses. Maturitas 77 (1):1-3.

105. Lips P, Gielen E, van Schoor NM (2014) Vitamin D supplements with or without calcium to prevent fractures. Bonekey Rep 3:512.

106. Chapuy MC, Arlot ME, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ (1994) Effect of Calcium and Cholecalciferol Treatment for 3 Years on Hip-Fractures in Elderly Women. Br Med J 308 (6936):1081-1082.

107. Chapuy MC, Pamphile R, Paris E, Kempf C, Schlichting M, Arnaud S, Garnero P, Meunier PJ (2002) Combined calcium and vitamin D3 supplementation in elderly women: confirmation of reversal of secondary hyperparathyroidism and hip fracture risk: the Decalyos II study. Osteoporos Int 13 (3):257-264.

Caudarella R, Vescini F, Rizzoli E, Francucci CM (2009) Salt intake, hypertension, and osteoporosis. J Endocrinol Invest 32 (4 Suppl):15-20.
 Devine A, Criddle RA, Dick IM, Kerr DA, Prince RL (1995) A Longitudinal-Study of the Effect of Sodium and Calcium Intakes on Regional Bone-Density in Postmenopausal Women. Am J Clin Nutr 62 (4):740-745.

110. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kröger H, McCloskey EV, Mellstrom D, Melton LJ, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2005) Smoking and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 16 (2):155-162.

111. Määttä M, Terho E, Jokinen H, Pulkkinen P, Korpelainen J, Heikkinen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Jämsä T, Korpelainen R (2012) Lifestyle factors and site-specific risk of hip fracture in community dwelling older women - a 13-year prospective population-based cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 13:173.

112. Yoon V, Maalouf NM, Sakhaee K (2012) The effects of smoking on bone metabolism. Osteoporos Int 23 (8):2081-2092.

113. Ioannidis G, Pallan S, Papaioannou A, Mulgund M, Rios L, Ma J, Thabane L, Davison KS, Josse RG, Kovacs CS, Kreiger N, Olszynski WP, Prior JC, Towheed T, Adachi JD (2014) Glucocorticoids predict 10-year fragility fracture risk in a populationbased ambulatory cohort of men and women: Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). Arch Osteoporos 9 (1):169.

114. van Staa TP, Leufkens HG, Cooper C (2002) The epidemiology of corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 13 (10):777-787.

115. Khosla S, Melton J, 3rd (2002) Fracture risk in primary hyperparathyroidism. J Bone Miner Res 17 Suppl 2:N103-107.

116. Targownik LE, Bernstein CN, Leslie WD (2013) Inflammatory bowel disease and the risk of osteoporosis and fracture. Maturitas 76 (4):315-319.

117. Bianchi ML, Bardella MT (2008) Bone in celiac disease. Osteoporos Int 19 (12):1705-1716.

118. Bauer DC, Ettinger B, Nevitt MC, Stone KL (2001) Risk for fracture in women with low serum levels of thyroid-stimulating hormone. Ann Intern Med 134 (7):561-568.

119. Meczekalski B, Podfigurna-Stopa A, Katulski K (2013) Long-term consequences of anorexia nervosa. Maturitas 75 (3):215-220.

120. Lambrinoudaki I, Papadimitriou D (2010) Pathophysiology of bone loss in the female athlete. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1205:45-50.

121. Nguyen TV, Jones G, Sambrook PN, White CP, Kelly PJ, Eisman JA (1995) Effects of estrogen exposure and reproductive factors on bone mineral density and osteoporotic fractures. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80 (9):2709-2714.

122. Hundrup YA, Ekholm O, Hoidrup S, Davidsen M, Obel EB (2005) Risk factors for hip fracture and a possible effect modification by hormone replacement therapy. The Danish nurse cohort study. Eur J Epidemiol 20 (10):871-877.

123. Mikkola TM, Heinonen A, Kovanen V, Cheng S, Kujala UM, Suominen H, Alen M, Puolakka J, Ankarberg-Lindgren C, Ronkainen PH, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Rantanen T, Sipilä S (2011) Influence of long-term postmenopausal hormone-replacement therapy on estimated structural bone strength: a study in discordant monozygotic twins. J Bone Miner Res 26 (3):546-552.

124. Hillier TA, Rizzo JH, Pedula KL, Stone KL, Cauley JA, Bauer DC, Cummings SR (2003) Nulliparity and fracture risk in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 18 (5):893-899.

125. Michaëlsson K, Baron JA, Farahmand BY, Ljunghall S (2001) Influence of parity and lactation on hip fracture risk. Am J Epidemiol 153 (12):1166-1172.

126. Edwards M, Moon R, Harvey N, Cooper C (2013) Epidemiology and genetics of postmenopausal osteoporosis. In: Stovall DW (ed) Osteoporosis. Diagnosis and management. WILEY Blackwell, Singapore, pp 1-14.

127. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Eisman JA, McCloskey EV, Mellström D, Melton LJ, 3rd, Pols HA, Reeve J, Silman AJ, Tenenhouse A (2004) A family history of fracture and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Bone 35 (5):1029-1037. 128. Taylor BC, Schreiner PJ, Stone KL, Fink HA, Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Bowman PJ, Ensrud KE (2004) Long-term prediction of incident hip fracture risk in elderly white women: Study of osteoporotic fractures. J Am Geriatr Soc 52 (9):1479-1486.

129. Arden NK, Baker J, Hogg C, Baan K, Spector TD (1996) The heritability of bone mineral density, ultrasound of the calcaneus and hip axis length: a study of postmenopausal twins. J Bone Miner Res 11 (4):530-534.

130. Hunter D, De Lange M, Snieder H, MacGregor AJ, Swaminathan R, Thakker RV, Spector TD (2001) Genetic contribution to bone metabolism, calcium excretion, and vitamin D and parathyroid hormone regulation. J Bone Miner Res 16 (2):371-378.

131. Pekkinen M, Saarnio E, Viljakainen HT, Kokkonen E, Jakobsen J, Cashman K, Mäkitie O, Lamberg-Allardt C (2014) Vitamin D binding protein genotype is associated with serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and PTH concentrations, as well as bone health in children and adolescents in Finland. PLoS One 9 (1):e87292.

132. Morris DH, Jones ME, Schoemaker MJ, Ashworth A, Swerdlow AJ (2011) Familial concordance for age at natural menopause: results from the Breakthrough Generations Study. Menopause 18 (9):956-961.

133. Arden NK, Spector TD (1997) Genetic influences on muscle strength, lean body mass, and bone mineral density: a twin study. J Bone Miner Res 12 (12):2076-2081.

134. Dargent-Molina P, Douchin MN, Cormier C, Meunier PJ, Breart G (2002) Use of clinical risk factors in elderly women with low bone mineral density to identify women at higher risk of hip fracture: The EPIDOS prospective study. Osteoporos Int 13 (7):593-599.

135. Cawthon PM, Fullman RL, Marshall L, Mackey DC, Fink HA, Cauley JA, Cummings SR, Orwoll ES, Ensrud KE (2008) Physical performance and risk of hip fractures in older men. J Bone Miner Res 23 (7):1037-1044.

136. Wagner H, Melhus H, Gedeborg R, Pedersen NL, Michaëlsson K (2009) Simply ask them about their balance--future fracture risk in a nationwide cohort study of twins. Am J Epidemiol 169 (2):143-149.

137. Jokinen H, Pulkkinen P, Korpelainen J, Heikkinen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Jämsä T, Korpelainen R (2010) Risk factors for cervical and trochanteric hip fractures in elderly women: a population-based 10-year follow-up study. Calcif Tissue Int 87 (1):44-51.

138. Tiedemann A, Sherrington C, Lord SR (2005) Physiological and psychological predictors of walking speed in older community-dwelling people. Gerontology 51 (6):390-395.

139. Callisaya ML, Blizzard L, Schmidt MD, McGinley JL, Lord SR, Srikanth VK (2009) A population-based study of sensorimotor factors affecting gait in older people. Age Ageing 38 (3):290-295.

140. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, Scherr PA, Wallace RB (1994) A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol 49 (2):M85-94.

141. Markides KS, Black SA, Ostir GV, Angel RJ, Guralnik JM, Lichtenstein M (2001) Lower body function and mortality in Mexican American elderly people. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 56 (4):M243-247. 142. Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Leveille S, Fried LP (1999) Coimpairments: strength and balance as predictors of severe walking disability. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 54 (4):M172-176.

143. Studenski S, Perera S, Wallace D, Chandler JM, Duncan PW, Rooney E, Fox M, Guralnik JM (2003) Physical performance measures in the clinical setting. J Am Geriatr Soc 51 (3):314-322.

144. Dargent-Molina P, Schott AM, Hans D, Favier F, Grandjean H, Baudoin C, Meunier PJ, Breart G (1999) Separate and combined value of bone mass and gait speed measurements in screening for hip fracture risk: results from the EPIDOS study. Epidemiologie de l'Osteoporose. Osteoporos Int 9 (2):188-192.

145. Avlund K, Rantanen T, Schroll M (2006) Tiredness and subsequent disability in older adults: The role of walking limitations. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 61 (11):1201-1205.

146. Lihavainen K, Sipilä S, Rantanen T, Seppänen J, Lavikainen P, Sulkava R, Hartikainen S (2012) Effects of comprehensive geriatric intervention on physical performance among people aged 75 years and over. Aging Clin Exp Res 24 (4):331-338.

147. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Beauchet O, Bonnefoy M, Cesari M, Donini LM, Gillette Guyonnet S, Inzitari M, Nourhashemi F, Onder G, Ritz P, Salva A, Visser M, Vellas B (2009) Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. J Nutr Health Aging 13 (10):881-889.

148. Peel NM, Kuys SS, Klein K (2013) Gait speed as a measure in geriatric assessment in clinical settings: a systematic review. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 68 (1):39-46.

149. Chen YY, Cheng PY, Wu SL, Lai CH (2012) Parkinson's disease and risk of hip fracture: an 8-year follow-up study in Taiwan. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 18 (5):506-509.

150. Ensrud KE, Blackwell T, Mangione CM, Bowman PJ, Bauer DC, Schwartz A, Hanlon JT, Nevitt MC, Whooley MA (2003) Central nervous system active medications and risk for fractures in older women. Arch Intern Med 163 (8):949-957.

151. Boyle N, Naganathan V, Cumming RG (2010) Medication and falls: risk and optimization. Clin Geriatr Med 26 (4):583-605. 152. Hartikainen S, Lönnroos E, Louhivuori K (2007) Medication as a risk factor for falls: critical systematic review. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 62 (10):1172-1181.

153. Woolcott JC, Richardson KJ, Wiens MO, Patel B, Marin J, Khan KM, Marra CA (2009) Metaanalysis of the impact of 9 medication classes on falls in elderly persons. Arch Intern Med 169 (21):1952-1960.

154. Nurminen J, Puustinen J, Piirtola M, Vahlberg T, Kivelä SL (2010) Psychotropic drugs and the risk of fractures in old age: a prospective population-based study. BMC Public Health 10:396.

155. Nurminen J (2014) The use of nervous system drugs and the risk of fractures in old adults. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Medica - Odontologica. University of Turku, Turku.

156. Malmivaara A, Heliövaara M, Knekt P, Reunanen A, Aromaa A (1993) Risk factors for injurious falls leading to hospitalization or death in a cohort of 19,500 adults. Am J Epidemiol 138 (6):384-394.

157. Frost M, Abrahamsen B, Masud T, Brixen K (2012) Risk factors for fracture in elderly men: a population-based prospective study. Osteoporos Int 23 (2):521-531.

158. Graafmans WC, Ooms ME, Hofstee HM, Bezemer PD, Bouter LM, Lips P (1996) Falls in the elderly: a prospective study of risk factors and risk profiles. Am J Epidemiol 143 (11):1129-1136.

159. Durosier C, Hans D, Krieg MA, Ruffieux C, Cornuz J, Meunier PJ, Schott AM (2007) Combining clinical factors and quantitative ultrasound improves the detection of women both at low and high risk for hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 18 (12):1651-1659.

160. Hans D, Durosier C, Kanis JA, Johansson H, Schott-Pethelaz AM, Krieg MA (2008) Assessment of the 10-year probability of osteoporotic hip fracture combining clinical risk factors and heel bone ultrasound: The EPISEM prospective cohort of 12,958 elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 23 (7):1045-1051.

161. Diéz-Pérez A, Gonzalez-Macias J, Marin F, Abizanda M, Alvarez R, Gimeno A, Pegenaute E, Vila J (2007) Prediction of absolute risk of non-spinal fractures using clinical risk factors and heel quantitative ultrasound. Osteoporos Int 18 (5):629-639.

162. Black A, Wood J (2005) Vision and falls. Clin Exp Optom 88 (4):212-222.

163. Kulmala J, Era P, Pärssinen O, Sakari R, Sipilä S, Rantanen T, Heikkinen E (2008) Lowered vision as a risk factor for injurious accidents in older people. Aging Clin Exp Res 20 (1):25-30.

164. Ivers RQ, Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Simpson JM, Peduto AJ (2003) Visual risk factors for hip fracture in older people. J Am Geriatr Soc 51 (3):356-363.

165. Kannus P, Sievänen H, Palvanen M, Järvinen T, Parkkari J (2005) Prevention of falls and consequent injuries in elderly people. Lancet 366 (9500):1885-1893.

166. Lips P (2006) Vitamin D physiology. Prog Biophys Mol Biol.92 (1): 4-8.

167. Holick MF (2007) Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 357 (3):266-281.

168. Dawson-Hughes B, Heaney RP, Holick MF, Lips P, Meunier PJ, Vieth R (2005) Estimates of optimal vitamin D status. Osteoporos Int 16 (7):713-716.

169. Thomas MK, Lloyd-Jones DM, Thadhani RI, Shaw AC, Deraska DJ, Kitch BT, Vamvakas EC, Dick IM, Prince RL, Finkelstein JS (1998) Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients. N Engl J Med 338 (12):777-783.

170. Chapuy MC, Preziosi P, Maamer M, Arnaud S, Galan P, Hercberg S, Meunier PJ (1997) Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in an adult normal population. Osteoporos Int 7 (5):439-443.

171. Menant JC, Close JC, Delbaere K, Sturnieks DL, Trollor J, Sachdev PS, Brodaty H, Lord SR (2012) Relationships between serum vitamin D levels, neuromuscular and neuropsychological function and falls in older men and women. Osteoporos Int 23 (3):981-989.

172. Lai JK, Lucas RM, Clements MS, Roddam AW, Banks E (2010) Hip fracture risk in relation to vitamin D supplementation and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials and observational studies. BMC Public Health 10:331.

173. Cauley JA, LaCroix AZ, Wu L, Horwitz M, Danielson ME, Bauer DC, Lee JS, Jackson RD, Robbins JA, Wu C, Stanczyk FZ, LeBoff MS, Wactawski-Wende J, Sarto G, Ockene J, Cummings SR (2008) Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations and risk for hip fractures. Ann Intern Med 149 (4):242-250.

174. Cauley JA, Parimi N, Ensrud KE, Bauer DC, Cawthon PM, Cummings SR, Hoffman AR, Shikany JM, Barrett-Connor E, Orwoll E (2010) Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and the risk of hip and nonspine fractures in older men. J Bone Miner Res 25 (3):545-553.

175. Roddam AW, Neale R, Appleby P, Allen NE, Tipper S, Key TJ (2007) Association between plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and fracture risk: the EPIC-Oxford study. Am J Epidemiol 166 (11):1327-1336.

176. The DIPART Group (2010) Patient level pooled analysis of 68 500 patients from seven major vitamin D fracture trials in US and Europe. BMJ 340:b5463.

177. Reid IR, Bolland MJ, Grey A (2014) Effects of vitamin D supplements on bone mineral density: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 383 (9912):146-155.

178. Avenell A, Mak JC, O'Connell D (2014) Vitamin D and vitamin D analogues for preventing fractures in post-menopausal women and older men. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD000227.

179. Looker AC, Mussolino ME (2008) Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and hip fracture risk in older U.S. white adults. J Bone Miner Res 23 (1):143-150.

180. Tang BM, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A (2007) Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. Lancet 370 (9588):657-666.

181. Reid IR, Bolland MJ (2014) Skeletal and nonskeletal effects of vitamin D: is vitamin D a tonic for bone and other tissues? Osteoporos Int 25 (10):2347-2357.

182. Cauley JA, Danielson ME, Boudreau R, Barbour KE, Horwitz MJ, Bauer DC, Ensrud KE, Manson JE, Wactawski-Wende J, Shikany JM, Jackson RD (2011) Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and clinical fracture risk in a multiethnic cohort of women: the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). J Bone Miner Res 26 (10):2378-2388.

183. Díez A, Puig J, Serrano S, Mariñso ML, Bosch J, Marrugat J, Mellibovsky L, Nogués X, Knobel H, Aubía J (1994) Alcohol-Induced Bone-Disease in the Absence of Severe Chronic Liver-Damage. J Bone Miner Res 9 (6):825-831.

184. Clark MK, Sowers MF, Dekordi F, Nichols S (2003) Bone mineral density and fractures among alcohol-dependent women in treatment and in recovery. Osteoporos Int 14 (5):396-403.

185. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Eisman JA, Pols H, Tenenhouse A (2005) Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture. Osteoporos Int 16 (7):737-742.

186. Hoidrup S, Gronbaek M, Gottschau A, Lauritzen JB, Schroll M (1999) Alcohol intake, beverage preference, and risk of hip fracture in men and women. Copenhagen Centre for Prospective Population Studies. Am J Epidemiol 149 (11):993-1001.

187. Wosje KS, Kalkwarf HJ (2007) Bone density in relation to alcohol intake among men and women in the United States. Osteoporos Int 18 (3):391-400.

188. Holbrook TL, Barrett-Connor E (1993) A Prospective-Study of Alcohol-Consumption and Bone-Mineral Density. Br Med J 306 (6891):1506-1509.

189. Cawthon PM, Harrison SL, Barrett-Connor E, Fink HA, Cauley JA, Lewis CE, Orwoll ES, Cummings SR (2006) Alcohol intake and its relationship with bone mineral density, falls, and fracture risk in older men. J Am Geriatr Soc 54 (11):1649-1657.

190. Felson DT, Kiel DP, Anderson JJ, Kannel WB (1988) Alcohol consumption and hip fractures: the Framingham Study. Am J Epidemiol 128 (5):1102-1110.

191. Hernandez-Avila M, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Speizer FE, Willett WC (1991) Caffeine, moderate alcohol intake, and risk of fractures of the hip and forearm in middle-aged women. Am J Clin Nutr 54 (1):157-163.

192. Gregg EW, Cauley JA, Seeley DG, Ensrud KE, Bauer DC (1998) Physical activity and osteoporotic fracture risk in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Ann Intern Med 129 (2):81-88. 193. Feskanich D, Flint AJ, Willett WC (2014) Physical activity and inactivity and risk of hip fractures in men. Am J Public Health 104 (4):e75-81. 194. Michaëlsson K, Olofsson H, Jensevik K, Larsson S, Mallmin H, Berglund L, Vessby B, Melhus H (2007) Leisure physical activity and the risk of fracture in men. PLoS Med 4 (6):e199.

195. Moayyeri A (2008) The association between physical activity and osteoporotic fractures: a review of the evidence and implications for future research. Ann Epidemiol 18 (11):827-835.

196. Chastin SF, Mandrichenko O, Helbostadt JL, Skelton DA (2014) Associations between objectivelymeasured sedentary behaviour and physical activity with bone mineral density in adults and older adults, the NHANES study. Bone 64:254-262.

197. Langsetmo L, Hitchcock CL, Kingwell EJ, Davison KS, Berger C, Forsmo S, Zhou W, Kreiger N, Prior JC (2012) Physical activity, body mass index and bone mineral density-associations in a prospective population-based cohort of women and men: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). Bone 50 (1):401-408.

198. Carter ND, Kannus P, Khan KM (2001) Exercise in the prevention of falls in older people: a systematic literature review examining the rationale and the evidence. Sports Med 31 (6):427-438.

199. Feskanich D, Willett W, Colditz G (2002) Walking and leisure-time activity and risk of hip fracture in postmenopausal women. JAMA 288 (18):2300-2306.

200. Hoidrup S, Sorensen TI, Stroger U, Lauritzen JB, Schroll M, Gronbaek M (2001) Leisure-time physical activity levels and changes in relation to risk of hip fracture in men and women. Am J Epidemiol 154 (1):60-68.

201. Lai JK, Lucas RM, Armstrong M, Banks E (2013) Prospective observational study of physical functioning, physical activity, and time outdoors and the risk of hip fracture: a population-based cohort study of 158,057 older adults in the 45 and up study. J Bone Miner Res 28 (10):2222-2231.

202. Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, Masaki K, Leveille S, Curb JD, White L (1999) Midlife hand grip strength as a predictor of old age disability. JAMA 281 (6):558-560.

203. Shinkai S, Watanabe S, Kumagai S, Fujiwara Y, Amano H, Yoshida H, Ishizaki T, Yukawa H, Suzuki T, Shibata H (2000) Walking speed as a good predictor for the onset of functional dependence in a Japanese rural community population. Age Ageing 29 (5):441-446.

204. Sirola J, Rikkonen T, Tuppurainen M, Jurvelin JS, Kröger H (2006) Association of grip strength change with menopausal bone loss and related fractures: a population-based follow-up study. Calcif Tissue Int 78 (4):218-226.

205. Robbins JA, Schott AM, Garnero P, Delmas PD, Hans D, Meunier PJ (2005) Risk factors for hip fracture in women with high BMD: EPIDOS study. Osteoporos Int 16 (2):149-154.

206. DiGirolamo DJ, Kiel DP, Esser KA (2013) Bone and skeletal muscle: neighbors with close ties. J Bone Miner Res 28 (7):1509-1518.

207. Lebrasseur NK, Achenbach SJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, Amin S, Khosla S (2012) Skeletal muscle mass is associated with bone geometry and microstructure and serum insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 levels in adult women and men. J Bone Miner Res 27 (10):2159-2169.

208. Girgis CM, Mokbel N, Digirolamo DJ (2014) Therapies for musculoskeletal disease: can we treat two birds with one stone? Curr Osteoporos Rep 12 (2):142-153.

209. Pack AM, Morrell MJ (2004) Epilepsy and bone health in adults. Epilepsy Behav 5 Suppl 2:S24-29.

210. Kinjo M, Setoguchi S, Schneeweiss S, Solomon DH (2005) Bone mineral density in subjects using central nervous system-active medications. Am J Med 118 (12):1414.

211. Carbone LD, Johnson KC, Robbins J, Larson JC, Curb JD, Watson K, Gass M, Lacroix AZ (2010) Antiepileptic drug use, falls, fractures, and BMD in postmenopausal women: findings from the women's health initiative (WHI). J Bone Miner Res 25 (4):873-881.

212. van Staa TP, Geusens P, Bijlsma JW, Leufkens HG, Cooper C (2006) Clinical assessment of the long-term risk of fracture in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54 (10):3104-3112.

213. Huusko TM, Korpela M, Karppi P, Avikainen V, Kautiainen H, Sulkava R (2001) Threefold increased

risk of hip fractures with rheumatoid arthritis in Central Finland. Ann Rheum Dis 60 (5):521-522.

214. Vis M, Guler-Yuksel M, Lems WF (2013) Can bone loss in rheumatoid arthritis be prevented? Osteoporos Int 24 (10):2541-2553.

215. Vestergaard P, Hermann P, Jensen JE, Eiken P, Mosekilde L (2012) Effects of paracetamol, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, acetylsalicylic acid, and opioids on bone mineral density and risk of fracture: results of the Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study (DOPS). Osteoporos Int 23 (4):1255-1265.

216. Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L (2006) Fracture risk associated with use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, acetylsalicylic acid, and acetaminophen and the effects of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Calcif Tissue Int 79 (2):84-94.

217. Stanmore EK, Oldham J, Skelton DA, O'Neill T, Pilling M, Campbell AJ, Todd C (2013) Risk factors for falls in adults with rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 65 (8):1251-1258.

218. Hayashibara M, Hagino H, Katagiri H, Okano T, Okada J, Teshima R (2010) Incidence and risk factors of falling in ambulatory patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective 1-year study. Osteoporos Int 21 (11):1825-1833.

219. Armstrong C, Swarbrick CM, Pye SR, O'Neill TW (2005) Occurrence and risk factors for falls in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 64 (11):1602-1604.

220. Oswald AE, Pye SR, O'Neill TW, Bunn D, Gaffney K, Marshall T, Silman AJ, Symmons DP (2006) Prevalence and associated factors for falls in women with established inflammatory polyarthritis. J Rheumatol 33 (4):690-694.

221. Vestergaard P (2007) Discrepancies in bone mineral density and fracture risk in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes--a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 18 (4):427-444.

222. Meyer HE, Tverdal A, Falch JA (1993) Risk-Factors for Hip Fracture in Middle-Aged Norwegian Women and Men. Am J Epidemiol 137 (11):1203-1211.

223. Saito M, Marumo K (2013) Bone quality in diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 4:72.

224. Macgilchrist C, Paul L, Ellis BM, Howe TE, Kennon B, Godwin J (2010) Lower-limb risk factors for falls in people with diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 27 (2):162-168.

225. Tsuda K, Nishio I, Masuyama Y (2001) Bone mineral density in women with essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens 14 (7):704-707.

226. Yazici S, Yazici M, Korkmaz U, Engin Erkan M, Erdem Baki A, Erden I, Ozhan H, Ataoglu S (2011) Relationship between blood pressure levels and bone mineral density in postmenopausal Turkish women. Arch Med Sci 7 (2):264-270.

227. Mussolino ME, Gillum RF (2006) Bone mineral density and hypertension prevalence in postmenopausal women: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Ann Epidemiol 16 (5):395-399.

228. Olmos JM, Hernandez JL, Martinez J, Castillo J, Valero C, Perez Pajares I, Nan D, Gonzalez-Macias J (2010) Bone turnover markers and bone mineral density in hypertensive postmenopausal women on treatment. Maturitas 65 (4):396-402.

229. Sennerby U, Melhus H, Gedeborg R, Byberg L, Garmo H, Ahlbom A, Pedersen NL, Michaëlsson K (2009) Cardiovascular diseases and risk of hip fracture. JAMA 302 (15):1666-1673.

230. Perez-Castrillon JL, Martin-Escudero JC, Alvarez Manzanares P, Cortes Sancho R, Iglesias Zamora S, Garcia Alonso M (2005) Hypertension as a risk factor for hip fracture. Am J Hypertens 18 (1):146-147.

231. Yang S, Nguyen ND, Center JR, Eisman JA, Nguyen TV (2014) Association between hypertension and fragility fracture: a longitudinal study. Osteoporos Int 25 (1):97-103.

232. Rosano C, Longstreth WT, Jr., Boudreau R, Taylor CA, Du Y, Kuller LH, Newman AB (2011) High blood pressure accelerates gait slowing in wellfunctioning older adults over 18-years of follow-up. J Am Geriatr Soc 59 (3):390-397.

233. Bergland A, Jarnlo GB, Laake K (2003) Predictors of falls in the elderly by location. Aging Clin Exp Res 15 (1):43-50.

234. Aung K, Htay T (2011) Thiazide diuretics and the risk of hip fracture. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (10):CD005185.

235. Schlienger RG, Kraenzlin ME, Jick SS, Meier CR (2004) Use of beta-blockers and risk of fractures. JAMA 292 (11):1326-1332.

236. Rejnmark L, Vestergaard P, Kassem M, Christoffersen BR, Kolthoff N, Brixen K, Mosekilde L (2004) Fracture risk in perimenopausal women treated with beta-blockers. Calcif Tissue Int 75 (5):365-372.

237. Rejnmark L, Vestergaard P, Heickendorff L, Andreasen F, Mosekilde L (2006) Loop diuretics increase bone turnover and decrease BMD in osteopenic postmenopausal women: results from a randomized controlled study with bumetanide. J Bone Miner Res 21 (1):163-170.

238. Reid IR, Gamble GD, Grey AB, Black DM, Ensrud KE, Browner WS, Bauer DC (2005) beta-Blocker use, BMD, and fractures in the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 20 (4):613-618.

239. Zacharieva S, Shigarminova R, Nachev E, Kamenov Z, Atanassova I, Orbetzova M, Stoynev A, Doncheva N, Borissova AM (2003) Effect of amlodipine and hormone replacement therapy on blood pressure and bone markers in menopause. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 25 (3):209-213.

240. Tinetti ME, Han L, Lee DS, McAvay GJ, Peduzzi P, Gross CP, Zhou B, Lin H (2014) Antihypertensive medications and serious fall injuries in a nationally representative sample of older adults. JAMA Intern Med 174 (4):588-595.

241. Hajjar I (2005) Postural blood pressure changes and orthostatic hypotension in the elderly patient: impact of antihypertensive medications. Drugs Aging 22 (1):55-68.

242. Kanis JA, Johnell O, De Laet C, Johansson H, Oden A, Delmas P, Eisman J, Fujiwara S, Garnero P, Kröger H, McCloskey EV, Mellstrom D, Melton LJ, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2004) A meta-analysis of previous fracture and subsequent fracture risk. Bone 35 (2):375-382.

243. Nguyen ND, Pongchaiyakul C, Center JR, Eisman JA, Nguyen TV (2005) Identification of highrisk individuals for hip fracture: A 14-year prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 20 (11):1921-1928.

244. Kanis JA, Oden A, Johnell O, Johansson H, De Laet C, Brown J, Burckhardt P, Cooper C, Christiansen C, Cummings S, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Gluer C, Goltzman D, Hans D, Krieg MA, La Croix A, McCloskey E, Mellström D, Melton LJ, 3rd, Pols H, Reeve J, Sanders K, Schott AM, Silman A, Torgerson D, van Staa T, Watts NB, Yoshimura N (2007) The use of clinical risk factors enhances the performance of BMD in the prediction of hip and osteoporotic fractures in men and women. Osteoporos Int 18 (8):1033-1046.

245. Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C (2012) Derivation and validation of updated QFracture algorithm to predict risk of osteoporotic fracture in primary care in the United Kingdom: prospective open cohort study. BMJ 344:e3427.

246. Nguyen ND, Frost SA, Center JR, Eisman JA, Nguyen TV (2008) Development of prognostic nomograms for individualizing 5-year and 10-year fracture risks. Osteoporos Int 19 (10):1431-1444.

247. Silverman SL, Calderon AD (2010) The utility and limitations of FRAX: A US perspective. Curr Osteoporos Rep 8 (4):192-197.

248. Järvinen TL, Sievänen H, Khan KM, Heinonen A, Kannus P (2008) Shifting the focus in fracture prevention from osteoporosis to falls. BMJ 336 (7636):124-126.

249. Kanis JA, Hans D, Cooper C, Baim S, Bilezikian JP, Binkley N, Cauley JA, Compston JE, Dawson-Hughes B, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Johansson H, Leslie WD, Lewiecki EM, Luckey M, Oden A, Papapoulos SE, Poiana C, Rizzoli R, Wahl DA, McCloskey EV (2011) Interpretation and use of FRAX in clinical practice. Osteoporos Int 22 (9):2395-2411.

250. Yun H, Delzell E, Ensrud KE, Kilgore ML, Becker D, Morrisey MA, Curtis JR (2010) Predicting hip and major osteoporotic fractures using administrative data. Arch Intern Med 170 (21):1940-1942.

251. Leslie WD, Lix LM, Johansson H, Oden A, McCloskey E, Kanis JA (2010) Independent clinical validation of a Canadian FRAX tool: fracture prediction and model calibration. J Bone Miner Res 25 (11):2350-2358.

252. Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C (2009) Predicting risk of osteoporotic fracture in men and women in England and Wales: prospective derivation and validation of QFractureScores. BMJ 339:b4229.

253. Bolland MJ, Siu AT, Mason BH, Horne AM, Ames RW, Grey AB, Gamble GD, Reid IR (2011) Evaluation of the FRAX and Garvan fracture risk calculators in older women. J Bone Miner Res 26 (2):420-427.

254. Sambrook PN, Flahive J, Hooven FH, Boonen S, Chapurlat R, Lindsay R, Nguyen TV, Diéz-Pérez A, Pfeilschifter J, Greenspan SL, Hosmer D, Netelenbos JC, Adachi JD, Watts NB, Cooper C, Roux C, Rossini M, Siris ES, Silverman S, Saag KG, Compston JE, LaCroix A, Gehlbach S (2011) Predicting fractures in an international cohort using risk factor algorithms without BMD. J Bone Miner Res 26 (11):2770-2777. 255. Pluskiewicz W, Adamczyk P, Franek E, Sewerynek E, Leszczynski P, Wichrowska H, Napiorkowska L, Stuss M, Ptaszek A, Kostyk T, Golba KS, Garbacz W, Drozdzowska B (2014) FRAX calculator and Garvan nomogram in male osteoporotic population. Aging Male 17 (3): 174-182. 256. van den Bergh JP, van Geel TA, Lems WF, Geusens PP (2010) Assessment of individual fracture risk: FRAX and beyond. Curr Osteoporos Rep 8 (3):131-137.

257. McGrother CW, Donaldson MM, Clayton D, Abrams KR, Clarke M (2002) Evaluation of a hip fracture risk score for assessing elderly women: the Melton Osteoporotic Fracture (MOF) study. Osteoporos Int 13 (1):89-96.

258. Melton LJ, 3rd, Crowson CS, O'Fallon WM, Wahner HW, Riggs BL (2003) Relative contributions of bone density, bone turnover, and clinical risk factors to long-term fracture prediction. J Bone Miner Res 18 (2):312-318.

259. Tromp AM, Ooms ME, Popp-Snijders C, Roos JC, Lips P (2000) Predictors of fractures in elderly women. Osteoporos Int 11 (2):134-140.

260. Aromaa A, Koskinen S (eds) (2004) Health and functional capacity in Finland. Baseline results of the Health 2000 health examination survey. National Public Health Institute, Publications of the National Public Health Institute B12 / 2004. Helsinki. Also available at: http://www.terveys2000.fi/julkaisut/baseline.pdf

261. Aromaa A, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, Maatela J, Joukamaa M (eds) (1989) Health, functional limitations and need for care in Finland. Basic results from the Mini-Finland Health Survey (In Finnish with an English summary: 525-54). Publications of the Social Insurance Institution AL:32, Helsinki and Turku.

262. The World Medical Association (WMA) (2008) Declaration of Helsinki - Ethical principles of medical research involving human subjects. http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3 /17c.pdf. Accessed 27.8. 2014

263. Impivaara O, Viikari J, Alanen E, Sonninen P (2005) Diagnosis of osteoporosis by DXA -- is everything all right? Comparison of results from four DXA units in the city of Turku (in Finnish with English summary). Finnish Medical Journal 60:5245-5252.

264. Krieg MA, Cornuz J, Ruffieux C, Van Melle G, Buche D, Dambacher MA, Hans D, Hartl F, Hauselmann HJ, Kraenzlin M, Lippuner K, Neff M, Pancaldi P, Rizzoli R, Tanzi F, Theiler R, Tyndall A, Wimpfheimer C, Burckhardt P (2006) Prediction of hip fracture risk by quantitative ultrasound in more than 7000 Swiss women >= 70 years of age: Comparison of three technologically different bone ultrasound devices in the SEMOF study. J Bone Miner Res 21 (9):1457-1463.

265. Finnish Current Care Guideline for treatment of Alcohol Abuse (2005). Duodecim 121:788-803. Updated April 21, 2010.

266. Crome I, Li TK, Rao R, Wu LT (2012) Alcohol limits in older people. Addiction 107 (9):1541-1543. 267. Fiatarone MA, O'Neill EF, Ryan ND, Clements KM, Solares GR, Nelson ME, Roberts SB, Kehayias JJ, Lipsitz LA, Evans WJ (1994) Exercise training and nutritional supplementation for physical frailty in very elderly people. N Engl J Med 330 (25):1769-1775.

268. Heistaro S (ed) (2008) Methodology report: Health 2000 Survey. National Public Health Institute, Publications of the National Public Health Institute B26/2008. Helsinki. Also available at: http://www.terveys2000.fi/doc/methodologyrep.pdf_ 269. Royston P (2006) Explained variation for survival models. Stata Journal 6 (1):83-96.

270. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., D'Agostino RB, Jr., Vasan RS (2008) Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 27 (2):157-172; discussion 207-212.

271. Tosteson AN, Melton LJ, 3rd, Dawson-Hughes B, Baim S, Favus MJ, Khosla S, Lindsay RL (2008) Costeffective osteoporosis treatment thresholds: the United States perspective. Osteoporos Int 19 (4):437-447.

272. Jones G, Nguyen T, Sambrook P, Kelly PJ, Eisman JA (1994) Progressive loss of bone in the femoral neck in elderly people: longitudinal findings from the Dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. BMJ 309 (6956):691-695.

273. Ensrud KE, Palermo L, Black DM, Cauley J, Jergas M, Orwoll ES, Nevitt MC, Fox KM, Cummings SR (1995) Hip and calcaneal bone loss increase with advancing age: longitudinal results from the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 10 (11):1778-1787.

274. Cawthon PM, Ewing SK, McCulloch CE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Cummings SR, Orwoll ES (2009) Loss of hip BMD in older men: the osteoporotic fractures in men (MrOS) study. J Bone Miner Res 24 (10):1728-1735.

275. Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Johansson S, Rosengren A, Dotevall A, Lappas G, Bengtsson BA, Wilhelmsen L (2000) Calcaneal ultrasound measurements are determined by age and physical activity. Studies in two Swedish random population samples. J Intern Med 247 (2):269-278.

276. Adami S, Giannini S, Giorgino R, Isaia G, Maggi S, Sinigaglia L, Filipponi P, Crepaldi G, Di Munno O (2003) The effect of age, weight, and lifestyle factors on calcaneal quantitative ultrasound: the ESOPO study. Osteoporos Int 14 (3):198-207.

277. Welch A, Camus J, Dalzell N, Oakes S, Reeve J, Khaw KT (2004) Broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA) of the heel bone and its correlates in men and women in the EPIC-Norfolk cohort: a cross-sectional population-based study. Osteoporos Int 15 (3):217-225. 278. Cheng S, Fan B, Wang L, Fuerst T, Lian M, Njeh

C, He Y, Kern M, Lappin M, Tylavsky F, Casal D, Harris S, Genant HK (1999) Factors affecting broadband ultrasound attenuation results of the calcaneus using a gel-coupled quantitative ultrasound scanning system. Osteoporos Int 10 (6):495-504.

279. Schott AM, Hans D, Sornayrendu E, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ (1993) Ultrasound Measurements on Os Calcis - Precision and Age-Related-Changes in a Normal Female-Population. Osteoporos Int 3 (5):249-254. 280. Sirola J, Kröger H, Honkanen R, Sandini L, Tuppurainen M, Jurvelin JS, Saarikoski S (2003) Risk factors associated with peri- and postmenopausal bone loss: does HRT prevent weight loss-related bone loss? Osteoporos Int 14 (1):27-33.

281. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dietrich T, Orav EJ, Dawson-Hughes B (2004) Positive association between 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and bone mineral density: A population-based study of younger and older adults. Am J Med 116 (9):634-639.

282. Mezquita-Raya P, Munoz-Torres M, Luna JD, Luna V, Lopez-Rodriguez F, Torres-Vela E, Escobar-Jimenez F (2001) Relation between vitamin D insufficiency, bone density, and bone metabolism in healthy postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 16 (8):1408-1415.

283. Collins D, Jasani C, Fogelman I, Swaminathan R (1998) Vitamin D and bone mineral density. Osteoporos Int 8 (2):110-114.

284. Liel Y, Ulmer E, Shary J, Hollis BW, Bell NH (1988) Low circulating vitamin D in obesity. Calcif Tissue Int 43 (4):199-201.

285. Bell NH, Epstein S, Greene A, Shary J, Oexmann MJ, Shaw S (1985) Evidence for alteration of the vitamin D-endocrine system in obese subjects. J Clin Invest 76 (1):370-373.

286. Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu ZR, Holick MF (2000) Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 72 (3):690-693. 287. Snijder MB, van Dam RM, Visser M, Deeg DJ, Dekker JM, Bouter LM, Seidell JC, Lips P (2005) Adiposity in relation to vitamin D status and parathyroid hormone levels: a population-based study in older men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90 (7):4119-4123.

288. Moschonis G, Tanagra S, Koutsikas K, Nikolaidou A, Androutsos O, Manios Y (2009) Association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and body composition in postmenopausal women: the postmenopausal Health Study. Menopause 16 (4):701-707.

289. Jungert A, Roth HJ, Neuhauser-Berthold M (2012) Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 and body composition in an elderly cohort from Germany: a cross-sectional study. Nutr Metab (Lond) 9 (1):42.

290. Drincic AT, Armas LA, Van Diest EE, Heaney RP (2012) Volumetric dilution, rather than

sequestration best explains the low vitamin D status of obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 20 (7):1444-1448. 291. Reid IR (2002) Relationships among body mass, its components, and bone. Bone 31 (5):547-555.

292. Adami S, Giannini S, Giorgino R, Isaia GC, Maggi S, Sinigaglia L, Filipponi P, Crepaldi G (2004) Effect of age, weight and lifestyle factors on calcaneal quantitative ultrasound in premenopausal women: the ESOPO study. Calcif Tissue Int 74 (4):317-321.

293. Babaroutsi E, Magkos F, Manios Y, Sidossis LS (2005) Lifestyle factors affecting heel ultrasound in Greek females across different life stages. Osteoporos Int 16 (5):552-561.

294. Gregg EW, Kriska AM, Salamone LM, Wolf RL, Roberts MM, Ferrell RE, Anderson SJ, Kuller LH, Cauley JA (1999) Correlates of quantitative ultrasound in the women's healthy lifestyle project. Osteoporos Int 10 (5):416-424.

295. Pye SR, Devakumar V, Boonen S, Borghs H, Vanderschueren D, Adams JE, Ward KA, Bartfai G, Casanueva FF, Finn JD, Forti G, Giwercman A, Han TS, Huhtaniemi IT, Kula K, Lean ME, Pendleton N, Punab M, Silman AJ, Wu FC, O'Neill TW (2010) Influence of lifestyle factors on quantitative heel ultrasound measurements in middle-aged and elderly men. Calcif Tissue Int 86 (3):211-219.

296. Kiel DP, Zhang Y, Hannan MT, Anderson JJ, Baron JA, Felson DT (1996) The effect of smoking at different life stages on bone mineral density in elderly men and women. Osteoporos Int 6 (3):240-248.

297. Burger H, de Laet CE, van Daele PL, Weel AE, Witteman JC, Hofman A, Pols HA (1998) Risk factors for increased bone loss in an elderly population: the Rotterdam Study. Am J Epidemiol 147 (9):871-879.

298. Lunt M, Masaryk P, Scheidt-Nave C, Nijs J, Poor G, Pols H, Falch JA, Hammermeister G, Reid DM, Benevolenskaya L, Weber K, Cannata J, O'Neill TW, Felsenberg D, Silman AJ, Reeve J (2001) The effects of lifestyle, dietary dairy intake and diabetes on bone density and vertebral deformity prevalence: the EVOS study. Osteoporos Int 12 (8):688-698.

299. Hans D, Hartl F, Krieg MA (2003) Devicespecific weighted T-score for two quantitative ultrasounds: operational propositions for the management of osteoporosis for 65 years and older women in Switzerland. Osteoporos Int 14 (3):251-258. 300. Schott AM, Cormier C, Hans D, Favier F, Hausherr E, Dargent-Molina P, Delmas PD, Ribot C, Sebert JL, Breart G, Meunier PJ (1998) How hip and whole-body bone mineral density predict hip fracture in elderly women: the EPIDOS Prospective Study. Osteoporos Int 8 (3):247-254.

301. Schott AM, Kassai Koupai B, Hans D, Dargent-Molina P, Ecochard R, Bauer DC, Breart G, Meunier PJ (2004) Should age influence the choice of quantitative bone assessment technique in elderly women? The EPIDOS study. Osteoporos Int 15 (3):196-203.

302. Stewart KJ, DeRegis JR, Turner KL, Bacher AC, Sung J, Hees PS, Shapiro EP, Tayback M, Ouyang P (2003) Usefulness of anthropometrics and dualenergy x-ray absorptiometry for estimating abdominal obesity measured by magnetic resonance imaging in older men and women. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 23 (2):109-114.

303. Simpson ER (2003) Sources of estrogen and their importance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 86 (3-5):225-230.

304. Rantalainen T, Nikander R, Heinonen A, Multanen J, Häkkinen A, Jämsä T, Kiviranta I, Linnamo V, Komi PV, Sievänen H (2010) Neuromuscular performance and body mass as indices of bone loading in premenopausal and postmenopausal women. Bone 46 (4):964-969.

305. Wong WL, Masters RS, Maxwell JP, Abernethy AB (2008) Reinvestment and falls in community-dwelling older adults. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 22 (4):410-414.

306. Miettinen M, Kinnunen L, Keinänen-Kiukanniemi S, Korpi-Hyövälti E, Niskanen L, Oksa H, Saaristo T, Sundvall J, Tuomilehto J, Vanhala M, Uusitupa M (2013) Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in Finnish adult population (in Finnish). Finnish Medical Journal 68:211-215.

307. National Nutrition Counsil, Valtion Ravitsemusneuvottelukunta (2014) Finnish Nutrition Recommendations 2014. Juvenes Oy, Helsinki.

308. Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, Durazo-Arvizu RA, Gallagher JC, Gallo RL, Jones G, Kovacs CS, Mayne ST, Rosen CJ, Shapses SA (2011) The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96 (1):53-58.

309. Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, Murad MH, Weaver CM (2011) Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96 (7):1911-1930.

310. Sanders KM, Stuart AL, Williamson EJ, Simpson JA, Kotowicz MA, Young D, Nicholson GC (2010) Annual high-dose oral vitamin D and falls and fractures in older women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 303 (18):1815-1822.

311. Smith H, Anderson F, Raphael H, Maslin P, Crozier S, Cooper C (2007) Effect of annual intramuscular vitamin D on fracture risk in elderly men and women--a population-based, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46 (12):1852-1857.

312. Sanders KM, Nicholson GC, Ebeling PR (2013)Is high dose vitamin D harmful? Calcif Tissue Int 92 (2):191-206.

313. Cavalier E, Rozet E, Gadisseur R, Carlisi A, Monge M, Chapelle JP, Hubert P, Souberbielle JC, Delanaye P (2010) Measurement uncertainty of 25-OH vitamin D determination with different commercially available kits: impact on the clinical cut offs. Osteoporos Int 21 (6):1047-1051.

314. Lips P, Chapuy MC, Dawson-Hughes B, Pols HAP, Holick MF (1999) An international comparison of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D measurements. Osteoporos Int 9 (5):394-397.

315. Binkley N, Krueger D, Cowgill CS, Plum L, Lake E, Hansen KE, DeLuca HF, Drezner MK (2004) Assay variation confounds the diagnosis of hypovitaminosis D: a call for standardization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89 (7):3152-3157.

316. Farahmand BY, Persson PG, Michaëlsson K, Baron JA, Parker MG, Ljunghall S (2000) Socioeconomic status, marital status and hip fracture risk: a population-based case-control study. Osteoporos Int 11 (9):803-808.

317. Perez Cano R, Galan Galan F, Dilsen G (1993) Risk factors for hip fracture in Spanish and Turkish women. Bone 14 Suppl 1:S69-72.

318. Prättälä R, Paalanen L (eds) (2007) Health behaviour and its socio-demographic differences in

Finland. Health 2000 Survey (In Finnish with an English summary). Publications of the National Public Health Institute B2 / 2007, Helsinki. Also available at: http://www.terveys2000.fi/julkaisut/ 2007b02.pdf_

319. Karinkanta S, Piirtola M, Sievänen H, Uusi-Rasi K, Kannus P (2010) Physical therapy approaches to reduce fall and fracture risk among older adults. Nat Rev Endocrinol 6 (7):396-407.

320. Working group set up by the Finnish Medical Society Duodecim (2014) Osteoporosis (online). Current Care Guideline. available online at: www.kaypahoito.fi. Accessed 27.8. 2014.

321. Sund R, Honkanen R, Johansson H, Oden A, McCloskey E, Kanis J, Kröger H (2014) Evaluation of the FRAX model for hip fracture predictions in the population-based Kuopio Osteoporosis Risk Factor and Prevention Study (OSTPRE). Calcif Tissue Int 95 (1):39-45.

322. Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Lamb SE, Gates S, Cumming RG, Rowe BH (2009) Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD007146.

323. Cameron ID, Murray GR, Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Hill KD, Cumming RG, Kerse N (2010) Interventions for preventing falls in older people in nursing care facilities and hospitals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD005465.

324. El-Khoury F, Cassou B, Charles MA, Dargent-Molina P (2013) The effect of fall prevention exercise programmes on fall induced injuries in community dwelling older adults: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 347:f6234.

325. Masud T, Binkley N, Boonen S, Hannan MT (2011) Official Positions for FRAX(R) clinical regarding falls and frailty: can falls and frailty be used in FRAX(R)? From Joint Official Positions Development Conference of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry and International Osteoporosis Foundation on FRAX(R). J Clin Densitom 14 (3):194-204.

326. Collins GS, Mallett S, Altman DG (2011) Predicting risk of osteoporotic and hip fracture in the United Kingdom: prospective independent and external validation of QFractureScores. BMJ 342:d3651.